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Chairman’s 
 Statement

Dear Shareholder,
This year 245 million devices were shipped incorporating our 

technologies bringing the total to date to over half a billion. This is 

another outstanding year, far exceeding our 3 year old target of 200 

million devices. We have set an exciting new target of 1 billion devices 

within 5 years. Group revenues have increased by 21% to £98.0m with 

adjusted profit before tax increasing by 80% to £24.0m. We are very 

pleased and proud of this result.

The Technology business has performed outstandingly well offering 

significant advantages over our competitors. We achieved several 

important new licensees including STMicroelectronics, ST-Ericsson, Fujitsu, LG, SiS, NetLogic, Skyviia  

and Generalplus.

PURE has seen growth in overseas markets, such as Australia, Switzerland and Denmark, as Digital Audio 

Broadcasting (DAB) radio has become more widely adopted internationally. We expect to see further 

markets developing in the current year, particularly Germany. ‘Cloud’ based connected content and services 

are rich areas for developing fresh opportunities. There is a strong, attractive and innovative roadmap in 

place. This performance was not sufficient to compensate for the tough conditions existing in our home 

retail market and overall progress has thus been limited.

The Group’s profit is growing strongly and we are continuing to make investments for the future, which are 

as vital as ever. Previous spending has clearly underpinned our progress so far. This year we purchased two 

companies, HelloSoft and Caustic Graphics, both intended to keep our fundamental technology leadership. 

We undertook a placing of £37.1m during the year to fund these purchases, but our cash reserves remain 

strong at £49.4m, strengthening considerably from £29.4m at the end of the previous year. We are 

investing in additional space at our Kings Langley headquarters to keep our company efficient and provide 

for expansion. In addition we are continuing to build our international presence with locations in US, Japan, 

India, China, Germany, Korea, Taiwan and Australia.

I must again mention and give huge credit for the success of the Group and its exciting progress to our 

some 900 employees. Their desire for success, commitment to quality and exceptional efforts are exemplary.

Thank you too for your keen interest and continued support.

 

Geoff Shingles 

Chairman
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The value and relevance of 

the Group’s range of market 

leading technologies is 

reflected in Imagination’s 

continued strong growth 

despite the challenges of 

the global economic 

environment. 

The full year saw excellent 

financial and strategic 

progress for the Technology business, with strong chip volume, 

royalty growth and a very active licensing period. The Group 

successfully closed a number of important licensing deals and 

secured many new partners. This resulted in a significant jump 

in operating profit for the Technology business. The licensing 

prospects and pipeline has never been stronger.

The PURE business continued to be held back in the short-term 

by the general economic pressure on consumer spending, 

particularly in the UK market, which has to date been the main 

driver of PURE’s revenues. However, PURE saw its international 

business grow strongly with more than 75% year on year 

growth in the second half. 

Financial Review
Group revenues for the period ending 30 April 2011 were 

£98.0m (2010: £80.9m), an increase of 21%. Technology 

revenues, comprising licensing and royalties, were 47%  

ahead at £69.8m (2010: £47.3m). PURE revenues were £28.2m 

(2010: £33.6m).

Within Technology, royalty revenue increased by 69% on both 

a sterling and dollar basis to £41.3m (2010: £24.4m), driven by 

a very strong increase in chip volume which increased 94% to 

245m (2010: 126m). 

Based on the high level of customer activity throughout the year, 

licensing revenue increased 24% to £28.5m (2010: £22.9m), the 

same on a dollar basis. The revenue contribution from Caustic 

and HelloSoft was, as expected, minimal.

The difficult economic environment held back PURE revenues. 

Whilst the markets for PURE’s products are increasingly 

becoming more global, 76% of PURE’s revenue was still in the 

UK which has seen particularly tough retail conditions. 

Group gross profit was £77.3m, a 38% increase (2010: £55.9m). 

The gross margin has continued to improve to 79% (2010: 69%) 

as the revenue mix continues to be driven by the higher margin 

Technology business. 

Research and development expenses increased 26% to 

£44.7m (2010: £35.4m). This is a 17% underlying increase 

excluding share-based incentive costs and the incremental 

research and development cost of Caustic and HelloSoft. 

The Group is increasing and widening engagements with 

its partners across our full range of graphics, video, display, 

broadcast and processing technologies and has received 

positive feedback from customers in relation to the recently 

acquired technologies. It is critical that Imagination continues 

to invest in its market leading IP cores to enable the Group to 

exploit opportunities and to ensure that our partners deploy our 

technologies effectively. 

In addition to the research and development investments, which 

are central to our business, Imagination is also strengthening 

its technical support both centrally and in the field as part of our 

plans to scale the business.

PURE continues to play a key role in pathfinding and promoting 

the Group’s technologies, notably in the area of the Cloud/

internet connectivity, digital radio and other emerging trends 

such as machine-to-machine connectivity. These development 

activities are vital to support the licensing of our newer 

connectivity/broadcast and processing technologies to partners. 

Sales and administrative expenses were £16.3m (2010: £10.6m). 

The underlying increase was 16% net of non-cash share-based 

incentive costs, amortisation of intangible assets, profit and loss 

on exchange, acquisition transaction costs and the incremental 

costs of Caustic and HelloSoft. 

Chief Executive’s 
Review
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The adjusted operating profit* for the Technology business 

increased 97% to £26.7m (2010: £13.6m) driven by the very 

strong increase in royalty revenues. The adjusted net operating 

margin for the Technology business increased to 38%  

(2010: 29%). 

The difficult trading conditions have resulted in PURE recording 

an adjusted operating loss* of £2.8m (2010: loss £0.3m). 

The adjusted Group profit* before tax increased by 80% to 

£24.0m (2010: £13.3m). The reported pre-tax profit was £16.4m 

(2010: £10.2m). 

There was a tax credit of £2.9m (2010: credit £4.0m) arising 

from the recognition of £3.0m of previously unrecognized 

tax losses and a cash receipt of £1.3m in respect of an R&D 

tax credit, offset by £1.4m of tax on overseas earnings. The 

deferred tax asset on the Group balance sheet to be utilized 

against future UK profits has increased to £24.9m (2010: 

£11.0m) as a result of the tax credit of £2.9m recognized 

through the profit and loss account and £11.0m recognized 

through equity. The Group has now recognized all of its deferred 

tax assets in respect of UK tax losses, and UK corporation tax 

payments will only commence once these have been utilized. 

Adjusted earnings per share* increased by 48% to 10.8p (2010: 

7.3p). The Group’s reported earnings per share increased to 7.7p 

(2010: 6.0p). 

The Group carried out a share placing in November 2010 and 

raised £37.1m in order to finance the acquisition of Caustic and 

HelloSoft. £29.4m of cash was paid out in the year in connection 

with these acquisitions, with further payments dependent on 

HelloSoft’s performance. 

Capital expenditure was £13.5m (2010: £2.0m). The Group 

acquired its existing and adjacent offices in Kings Langley 

for £9.0m gross in order to be able to redevelop the site and 

provide for expansion. A mortgage of £5.2m has been taken  

out on these properties. Plans for a new building on site are  

well advanced. 

There was a substantial increase in operating cash in-flow of 

£19.1m in the year (2010: £8.6m) generated from the strong 

increase in Group operating profit. This has led to net cash 

resources increasing to £49.4m (2010: £29.4m). Cash resources 

are adequate for the Group’s future requirements.

*  The reconciliation from reported results to adjusted results is set out in note 3.

Technology Business
During the 2010/11 financial year, the Technology business 

continued to make significant progress in its three key metrics:

•	 	New	licensing	deals,	which	generate	short-term	revenue	and	

represent a key measure for general technology adoption 

•	 	Growth	of	SoC	design	wins,	which	are	indicative	of	

technology deployment and the underlying drivers behind 

future royalty generation 

•	 	Partner	chip	volume	ramp-up,	which	drives	royalty	revenues	

Other important developments:

•	 	Two	key	strategic	acquisitions	in	H2,	HelloSoft	and	Caustic	

to add strategic complementary technologies and provide 

further scale to our business.

Licensing
The active and strengthening pipeline of opportunities led to 

a number of strategically and financially significant licensing 

agreements or deal extensions including over 20 major licensing 

agreements and a number of smaller deals and upgrades.

Among the major agreements, there were new partner deals 

with STMicroelectronics, ST-Ericsson, Fujitsu, LG, SiS, NetLogic, 

Skyviia and General Plus as well as significant new licenses or 

extensions with existing partners including Intel, TI, Renesas, 

MediaTek and CSR. The Group also signed software licenses  

and upgrades with a number of existing partners as well as 

with a number of key OEMs deploying partners’ chips with 

Imagination IP.

The major licence agreements involved over 35 IP core licences. 

The target markets for these include mobile phone, digital TV/

STB, personal media player, mobile computing/tablet and in-car 

navigation/dashboard. 
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Significantly, the Group has seen accelerating momentum in 

design-wins for its PowerVR graphics technology, which has so 

far achieved over 70 licenses, including many partners that are 

working on designs using the multi-processing (MP) SGX543MP 

and SGX544MP core variants of the Series5XT family. The 

Group’s next-generation technology codenamed ‘Rogue’ has 

been acknowledged by many key partners as the market leader 

and has already secured six early licensees.

Additionally we are seeing a steady diversification of design 

wins and growing interest across our other key IP cores 

including: 

•	 	Video	–	PowerVR	VXD	and	VXE	families	support	the	latest	

and emerging video decode and encode formats. We are 

seeing a growing adoption of these technologies among our 

partners. Already well over 40% of the devices with our IP 

shipped annually include our video cores.

  The growing demand for video technology is driven by 

content delivery and, increasingly, content creation and two-

way delivery of video. The trend is towards the widespread 

use of the internet for video content delivery including 

both mobile video delivery and the internet-protocol (IP) TV 

capability needed in video-on-demand and catch-up TV. 

  Also user generated content (e.g., YouTube) and video 

conferencing are increasingly making video encode 

capabilities a standard feature of many connected devices.

•	 	Connectivity/broadcast	–	the	Ensigma	UCC	family	of	IP	cores	

are seeing growing demand. We have secured multiple 

design wins in this area including a recent significant and 

extensive agreement with a top-tier semiconductor partner. 

We also have a strong and growing pipeline of engagements 

and evaluations ongoing for this technology. Ensigma 

UCC programmable radio processing units (RPU) support 

worldwide TV and radio reception as well as important 

connectivity standards such as Wi-Fi, all running on the same 

silicon engine in software. This technology is increasingly 

essential for delivery of Cloud and broadcast content to home 

and also within the enterprise.

•	 	Display	–	PowerVR	I2P	and	FRC	are	enabling	the	best	image	

processing for TVs, STBs and other consumer devices. 

Convergence trends are increasingly requiring features 

previously reserved for the TV market to migrate into other 

categories including mobile phones, personal computing and 

tablets, and in-car multimedia. Our offerings are particulary 

strong in low power and size efficiency whilst delivering  

high quality. 

•	 	Embedded	processor	cores	–	the	Meta	family	of	processors	

offers multi-threading, hard real-time and signal-processing 

capabilities which are ideal for highly integrated, feature-rich 

and cost effective systems. With its extensive capabilities 

Meta technology is also ideal as an application processor for 

running the operating system whilst also offering the built-in 

multi-threading, real-time and signal processing capabilities to 

carry out other key tasks, eliminating external hardware. 

  These features combined with our Ensigma technology offer 

a highly efficient connected processor which we believe is 

well positioned for many connected devices and Machine-

to-Machine (M2M). We have introduced the new MetaFlow 

family to address these market segments and are supporting 

this offering with innovative Cloud-connected client and 

portal technologies marketed under Flow Technology.

  Many of our IP cores integrate Meta processing cores 

already. Over 40% of the annual volume of our IP shipments 

deploy Meta technology and we expect this trend to continue 

upwards. The emergence of open source operating systems 

including Android and the inevitable trend towards internet 

connectivity across the majority of devices will further drive 

deployment of higher-end Meta processors in application 

processors in a variety of markets. 

•	 	Since	the	acquisition	of	HelloSoft,	in	addition	to	better	

integration of development work on connectivity (Wi-Fi), 

we have also seen a number of important engagements 

with respect to our VoIP and V.VoIP technologies with key 

customers which include a tier-one network operator and a 

key handset maker. 

Chief Executive’s Review
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Given the relevance and competitiveness of Imagination’s 

offerings and increased pipeline of prospects, the strong 

licensing activity level, which led to the reported 24% growth in 

licensing revenue, has continued into the current financial year. 

Partner chip shipments and royalties 
Partner chip unit shipments grew strongly and almost doubled 

to 245m units (2010: 126m units). Growth was driven by 

increasing sales of mobile phone, personal media player, TVs, 

tablets/netbooks, digital radio and car navigation/dashboard. 

SoC design wins and pipeline 
SoC design wins are the driver for future partner chip shipments 

and royalty revenue growth. Strong continuing momentum 

saw new partner SoC design wins increase to 115 (net of 

obsolescence) compared with 91 as at April 2010. Of these, 48 

are shipping or beginning to ship, with the balance of 67 still in 

design. The latter will be the driver for significant further royalty 

revenue growth. 

These committed devices are continuing to diversify across 

Imagination’s partners and key market segments: 

•	 40	for	mobile	phone	multimedia	devices	 

•	 	10	for	handheld	multimedia	(personal	media	player,	hand-held	

gaming/entertainment, camera, mobile TV) 

•	 	30	for	home	consumer	entertainment	(TVs,	STBs,	DVDs,	

digital radio and audio, connected audio, and home 

entertainment devices) 

•	 	15	in	mobile	computing	(tablet/netbook/ultra-mobile	PC)

•	 	14	for	in-car	(navigation,	dashboard,	personal	navigation	

devices) 

•	 	Six	for	other	markets	covering	green	energy,	networking,	

healthcare, amusement and toys

Acquisitions 
Caustic Graphics (‘Caustic’)
Imagination acquired Caustic in December 2010 for its ray-

tracing acceleration technologies. Ray tracing is a technique 

for rendering three-dimensional graphics with complex and 

more natural lighting models to achieve cinema-quality 3D and 

a level of near photographic realism that is impractical with 

traditional 3D graphics techniques. To date, ray tracing has 

been used in specialized applications such as special effects 

and computer animated movies, industrial design, mechanical 

and architectural modelling to create lifelike and photorealistic 

imagery. 

Caustic has developed unique and patented hardware 

and software technologies to radically lower the cost and 

dramatically increase the efficiency and performance of ray 

tracing, opening up the potential of highly photorealistic 

computer-generated animated imagery to a host of new real-

time applications and markets not possible previously. Very 

importantly the ray tracing approach has the added benefit 

of substantially simplifying content creation and reducing 

associated cost. Caustic technology also allows the co-

existence of traditional polygon based rendered objects and 

lifelike ray-traced elements in the same scene.

The acquisition of Caustic is helping to achieve a number of 

the Group’s objectives:

•	 	Imagination	has	gained	access	to	unique	and	patented	

technology which enables real-time ray-traced and cinema-

quality 3D graphics to be implemented in a novel and highly 

cost-effective manner. The capability can be efficiently 

added to the Group’s highly successful PowerVR Graphics 

Processing Units (GPUs) 

•	 	Caustic	technology	operates	fully	in	conjunction	with,	and	

complements, Imagination’s existing graphics processing 

IP. This helps ensure Imagination stays at the technological 
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forefront, driving major innovations in the growing 3D 

graphics market

•	 	Acquisition	enables	Imagination	to	bring	further	disruptive	

technologies, as part of its roadmap, to its mainstream 

graphics markets across the mobile, embedded, console 

and computing segments 

•	 	Acquisition	provides	access	to	professional	and	specialized	

markets that take advantage of Caustic’s much more 

efficient photo-realistic and cinema quality graphics solution. 

The combined technologies from Imagination and Caustic 

will dramatically change the price-performance point of 

these solutions and enable real-time operation

•	 	Acquisition	will	enable	Imagination	to	extend	its	ecosystem	

to include very advanced graphics content and tool 

developers, and ultimately bring such content and tools to 

mainstream markets 

HelloSoft 
Imagination acquired HelloSoft in December 2010 for its 

leading connectivity (Wi-Fi) and V.VoIP (Video and Voice over 

Internet Protocol) technologies. HelloSoft is one of the world’s 

leading providers of V.VoIP and wireless LAN technologies, 

supplying key service providers/operators, OEMs and 

semiconductor companies. 

Delivery of media to connected devices is increasingly 

becoming a key aspect of many modern service providers. 

Among the key technological changes in this area are:

•	 	The	migration	of	many	networks	from	circuit-switching	

(2G, 3G, traditional phone landlines) to packet switching, 

more commonly referred to as IP (Internet Protocol) based 

delivery, which include Wi-Fi, LTE (VoLTE: Voice over LTE) 

and all other modern communication standards

•	 	The	growing	relevance	of	wireless	Wi-Fi	to	connectivity	in	

the home, on the move (mobile devices and hotspots) and at 

work. The clear trends towards Cloud-based content storage 

and delivery are further increasing the demands for internet 

connected devices and in particular Wi-Fi

Driven by the above industry dynamics, Imagination expects 

the revenue streams for HelloSoft’s products, which provide 

leading-edge solutions to enable such changes, to build 

progressively as markets emerge and grow. 

The acquisition of HelloSoft is helping to achieve a number of 

Imagination’s objectives by:

•	 	Providing	access	to	leading	edge	V.VoIP	and	VoLTE	

technology that, with the migration to internet protocol 

networks, is of increasing importance in all key markets 

Imagination addresses today

•	 	Combining	HelloSoft’s	technology	and	Imagination’s	

multimedia processing cores offers an optimized end-to-end 

solution for media-over-internet protocol delivery, important 

to all connected devices

•	 	Opening	up	the	path	for	wider	and	deeper	engagement	with	

other parts of the telecommunications value-chain, including 

handset OEMs and network/service operators. This process 

has already resulted in important agreements with network/

service operators and device manufacturers

•	 	In	combination	with	Imagination’s	Ensigma	Universal	

Communications Core Processor (‘UCCP’) platforms, provide 

a comprehensive and market-leading Wi-Fi technology 

solution, and complete a fundamental part of Imagination’s 

‘connected home’ roadmap. The emergence of Cloud-

connected devices, smart TVs and set-top boxes is 

dependent on easy-to-deploy and high performance home 

connectivity which is strengthened through this acquisition 

The integration of both acquisitions is proceeding well.

Chief Executive’s Review
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PURE Business
Within the UK the overall consumer electronics market 

environment continued to be tight over Christmas 2010 with 

retailers acting very cautiously. Monthly consumer electronics 

sales were down by 10% to 20% across the period. 

With similar recession driven softening in international 

markets, historical overstocking in some markets and the 

timing of certain new product introductions, PURE showed 

a 16% revenue reduction for the full year, with a small 

improvement for the second half over the first half. Despite this 

continued tough environment, PURE maintained its number 

one position in the digital radio market in the UK.

During Q4 2010/11, a modest year-on-year improvement 

(9%) has been noted and more importantly PURE’s fledgling 

international revenues are showing significant second half 

year-on-year growth of around 75%.

The transition from analogue to digital radio is underway on a 

global scale but the pace of progress depends on each region. 

Importantly, Germany has agreed on DAB+ national roll-out 

and has set a launch date of 1 August 2011, backed up by 

impressive regional and local broadcast plans. Norway has 

announced analogue switch-off in 2017, Australia is showing 

strong growth with Switzerland and Denmark showing good 

growth. Hong Kong is expected to launch DAB+ in December 

2011. France and Italy although active and growing markets  

for PURE have suffered slow-downs in the transition to  

digital radio. 

Despite the tougher environment in the UK and other markets 

PURE retained its market-share leadership position in key 

product categories. During the last six months, PURE has 

launched three more radios with Flow technology, ONE 

Flow, Contour and most recently, Sirocco 550, which takes 

the connected range to eight products. Both ONE Flow and 

Contour have been well received internationally with ONE Flow 

receiving five stars from PC Pro magazine and What Hi-Fi? 

Sound and Vision magazine, plus 80% accolades from Danish 

titles, eReviews and iTrends, while Contour has received four 

stars from What Hi-Fi? Sound and Vision and T3.

A new colour range for the EVOKE Mio was also announced 

in the last six months. The iconic radio now comes in a colour 

collection that complements popular kitchenware colours. 

These have been very well received by lifestyle press and have 

been featured in top women’s and interiors magazines such as 

Ideal Home, Red, Good Homes, House Beautiful and Bella.

Other products that have been awarded in the last six months 

include the i-20, a ground-breaking digital iPod/iPhone dock, 

which has received a five star award from Hi-Fi Choice and 

top tech site, TechRadar. Sensia has retained interest with a 

five star award from iPad and iPhone User and also won the 

title of ‘Best Digital Radio 2011’ from Australia’s SmartHouse 

magazine.

The Group’s investment in developing the internet and web 

services portal, thelounge.com, in support of its connected 

radio and multimedia platform with its first deployment in the 

form of the PURE Flow range, is enabling the next generation 

of Cloud-based products and services. PURE recently 

completely revamped thelounge.com, adding a music store 

and new search facilities.

These connected technologies and services are considered of 

significant strategic importance to the Group; not only in the 

delivery of internet-based multimedia content but also for other 

connected services such as automation, security and remote 

healthcare. Over time we will be offering our Flow technology 

in its own right, bringing our portal, connectivity and processor 

IP together to address the many emerging connected 

applications beyond the radio market. 

PURE is making very valuable contributions to the development 

of fundamental intellectual property that is critical for key 

aspects of the Group’s future strategies. 
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Outlook and way forward 
The Group’s technologies, which have been instrumental in many of the key recent market trends, continue 

to gain ground and are powering many market-driving and iconic end-user products. With well over 500m 

devices in total, across numerous categories, having already shipped, and with approximately half of this 

volume shipped during the last financial year alone, the Group now sees that within five years a revised 

target of around one billion units is a reasonable goal for the annual run-rate of our partners’ chips. 

Despite the current economic environment, PURE continues to showcase effectively and drive some of 

our key technologies. The business is expected to see improvements during the current financial year and 

in the medium term. PURE is an integral part of the Group’s strategy and focuses on targeting emerging 

consumer markets that can benefit from a concerted drive and pathfinder approach. This has been 

successfully executed on digital radio in the UK with the focus now moving to international development. 

Connected devices and the associated Cloud-based solution are another key area where PURE’s efforts are 

directed, with a starting point that bridges the broadcast and internet arena and enables optimal delivery of 

both mass and individual targeted content. Our strategy will ultimately also lead to complementary areas 

involving home connectivity and the provision of useful remote Cloud services.

The two acquisitions complement our technologies and markets whilst also providing us with further 

capabilities and tools to launch disruptive technologies. We always look very carefully for market 

discontinuities or disruptive technologies to help us in developing and growing our business. These 

acquisitions are part of this process. 

Even with the significant progress we have made to date, the exploitation of many of our key technologies 

is still at an early stage in many markets. For example, the worldwide embedded graphics market alone 

has the potential to reach multi billion annual units over the next five years or so. Video technology 

deployment is exploding and is migrating from just decode to both decode and encode, which creates 

further significant opportunities ahead. Similarly the rapidly developing importance of internet connectivity 

and Cloud-based services will ultimately require almost all home consumer devices such as TVs, STBs and 

other home appliances to incorporate both connectivity and advanced user interfaces. 

Despite the volatile macro economy, the Group remains very well placed for further solid growth based on 

its very active and growing licensing pipeline, extensive SoC design wins already secured, expected chip 

volume ramp and royalty growth, as well as the potential for PURE to exploit its strong product line-up, 

including its Cloud-connected solutions, internationally.

Hossein Yassaie 

Chief Executive

22 June 2011

Chief Executive’s Review
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Imagination Required 
Imagination Technologies is a leading multimedia, communications and processor technologies company. 

That’s why our intellectual property (IP) is at the heart of many of today’s most iconic and highly respected 

consumer electronics products.

Imagination’s customers are drawn from the world’s most successful semiconductor and consumer 

electronics companies, as well as smaller innovative companies who are leaders in their markets.

We are intensely relationship focused, working closely with our partners to help them get successfully to 

market, shipping high volumes of advanced semiconductors containing our technologies. 

Beyond our direct licensees we also work with a broad ecosystem of developers whose energy is 

increasingly focused on supporting Imagination-based platforms as their top priority, with comprehensive 

tools, middleware and support as well as the most innovative and exciting content. 

Imagination believes that SoCs (systems-on-chip) powering everything in the consumer and embedded 

electronics space can be constructed based around combinations of our unique portfolio of IP cores. 

We deliver the highest performance at lowest power consumption and silicon area by making full use of 

our advanced, patented low-level design features alongside system-level philosophies such as hardware 

multi-threading, system latency tolerance and reconfigurable multi-standard solutions. Our IP products 

offer a refined balance of programmability and optimized hardware as well as architectural and chip-level 

elements designed to ensure small silicon area and low power consumption while delivering class-

leading performance and flexibility, enabling our technologies to help our partners lead and disrupt in 

many markets. At the heart of this approach we have a simple design philosophy: deliver the maximum 

performance per mm2 of silicon and per mW of power. 

We focus on the ‘four screens’ which define the primary gateways for consumers to interact with their 

connected world: mobile phones, mobile computers, home consumer electronics and in-car. 

Mobile Computing

Mobile
Multimedia

Home
Electronics

Automotive

The ‘four-screens’ define 

the modern consumer 

electronics experience
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It is vital that any app or service provider delivers a consistent converged experience to its customers when 

they	move	between	these	devices,	with	particular	focus	on	multimedia	and	connectivity	–	technology	

domains where Imagination excels.

Increasingly consumer electronics (CE) devices have to deliver the internet, computing, TV, music, 

navigation and more in one platform. 

It is our role to create technologies that enable better delivery of the multimedia and connectivity features 

consumers want now. Our solutions are all ultra-low power, scalable, programmable and multi-standard so 

they can be used across a wide range of applications and markets.

Imagination is more than a semiconductor IP company. Our focus is increasingly on solutions, and that 

includes the extensive software and Cloud-based infrastructure required for system-level solutions. 

As consumer-centric companies increasingly focus on delivering complete application platforms which 

include App Stores, Cloud-based content and services and more, a consistent hardware and software 

platform based on our technologies makes it possible to ensure the best possible environment for 

delivering rich multimedia content to consumers, thanks to our thriving ecosystem of industry-leading 

applications and middleware developers. 

Adoption
 Rate

Time2011

Graphics

Video

Comms

Flow,  connected 
micro & M2M

Over half a billion chips containing our technologies have 

already been shipped to date, almost half of those 

shipping within the past year. Indeed, we are expecting 

our partners to ship around one billion units per annum 

within five years.

We currently hold The Queen’s award for Enterprise in the 

International Trade category, presented to the company 

for its success in licensing ground-breaking technologies 

used in highly successful consumer electronics products. This is the fifth Queen’s award we have won. 

Everything we do is underpinned by our four key technologies, which address the inescapable truth of 

modern consumer and electronics product design: that for any market of sufficiently high volume the most 

successful solution will be a single system-on-chip (SoC).

Wi-Fi

PowerVR

PowerVR

PowerVR

Meta

DSP

Apps Graphics

Display

Video

Real TimeWiWi-FiFi

Audio

Ensigma
TV / RadioFlow

Our key technologies: 

PowerVR, Meta, Ensigma 

and Flow
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Imagination today has a highly skilled workforce of around 900 people from over 25 different nationalities, 

across more than a dozen countries. More than 80% of these are qualified engineers. 

Our sales teams and local management are located in all the key regional markets that we serve to ensure 

that customers always have access to someone who speaks their language in their time zone. We also 

have R&D centres in strategically strong technology regions to exploit local skills and academic excellence. 

Our headquarters and largest R&D base is in Kings Langley, near London, UK, with other R&D centres in 

Chepstow and Leeds in the UK, as well as rapidly growing centres in the USA, India and Poland. We keep 

close to our technology customers and partners worldwide, with sales and support offices in the USA, 

Europe, Japan, China, Korea and Taiwan. Our consumer electronics division, PURE, has offices in Australia, 

Ireland, the USA, Italy, France and Germany and operations and R&D in China.

Imagination has delivered on a strategy of innovation and diversification that has created a globally 

recognized technology company. Thanks to the long and deep relationships we have with our licensees, 

strategic partners and our shareholders, we believe the lives of hundreds of millions of consumers around 

the world are being enriched by Imagination.

Business Overview

Imagination worldwide

Headquarters R&D Sales
UK Technology Technology
 UK and India UK, Japan, Korea,  
  Taiwan and USA

 PURE PURE
 UK, India and China UK, Australia, France, Italy, 
  Germany, Ireland and USA
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Inside Imagination
Imagination Technologies Group plc is an international leader 

in the creation and licensing of multimedia, communications 

and processor technology for use in semiconductors and in 

the development and manufacture of advanced connected 

consumer products.

We create new technologies in the form of hardware and 

software design IP, which we license and deliver to customers 

together with extensive tools, support and integration 

expertise.

Our customers are usually leading 

semiconductor companies who 

manufacture and sell advanced chips, 

sometimes referred to as SoCs, with our 

technology inside.

The Group consists of two divisions:

The Technology division creates market-leading semiconductor 

IP cores for adding graphics, video and audio acceleration, 

display enhancement, embedded processing with DSP and 

multi-standard communications and connectivity technologies 

into designs for advanced SoCs. These are complemented by 

extensive software and tools, and dynamic developer support 

programmes and ecosystems. And for those licensees utilizing 

our connectivity capabilities, we also provide Cloud-based 

infrastructure and services IP too.

The PURE division develops market-leading and innovative 

consumer products. It consistently delivers products with an 

acclaimed mix of high performance and ease of use which not 

only dominate in PURE’s target markets but also showcase the 

capabilities of Imagination’s technologies and stimulate new 

and emerging markets.

PURE is the creator and manufacturer of the world’s most 

popular digital radios and connected audio devices. Run as  

a separate business, PURE innovates in product design 

through the use of Imagination’s IP, stimulating new and 

changing markets. 

Using Imagination
Our Technology business is based on IP licensing with up-front 

license fees plus royalties when silicon devices which use our 

technologies are shipped. 

From licensing to semiconductor device shipment can take 

anything from nine months to two years or more, and it can 

take a further one to two years before our semiconductor 

partners’ customers, including many of the world’s leading 

OEMs, deliver consumer products incorporating those 

semiconductors. That means Imagination has unrivalled 

visibility of the future of consumer electronics.

IP licensing makes sound commercial sense for semiconductor 

companies, who are freed from the punitive cost of 

developing all their required technology in-house, enabling 

them to concentrate on the competencies at the heart of 

their businesses such as SoC integration, product range 

development, supply chain logistics, support, application 

platform development and of course their own unique IP.

Because our IP is designed to be high performance with 

very low power requirements and small silicon area (so it is 

low cost to manufacture) it is enabling the most advanced 

multimedia and communications technologies to reach every 

consumer and embedded application now and in the future.

PURE creates innovative and stylish market-leading consumer 

electronics products using chips from our IP licensees, which 

are sold through a wide range of channels, both retail and 

online. PURE is not only 

an innovation leader in key 

markets for Imagination, 

it also helps us to better 

understand the needs of the 

market, path-find new areas, 

and directly engage with 

consumers.
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Why choose Imagination?

1 Performance
By combining unique innovations such as multi-threaded specialized processors 
and ultra-low power design with comprehensive production-ready software, the 
technology we offer does the job better than anything else on the market.

2 Proven
Our IP is proven in shipments of hundreds of millions of devices and hundreds of 
successful products from many world-class brands. Choosing Imagination is low 
risk	–	partners	know	our	designs	will	work	correctly	in	volume	production.

3 Low Power
By delivering fundamentally power-efficient architectures we enable longer 
battery life and less heat in mobile devices, as well as eco-friendly, fan-free, 
mains powered products.

4 Roadmaps
Our complete roadmaps and scalable SoC-friendly architectures mean customers 
can use our IP from low to high-end devices, over multiple products and markets 
for maximum return on investment. 

5 Solutions
Our SoC and solution-based approach means that our IP is easy to integrate. We 
have strong ecosystem programmes with developers and designers who deliver 
everything from end products to services, middleware and applications.

Business Overview
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Building on Imagination
Today, Imagination Technologies is a well-recognized and 

highly respected industry leader and innovator.

We have made strong progress in licensing, not only for 

individual IP cores but increasingly in broader IP portfolio 

relationships. More of our partners are committing to our 

technologies as integral to their long term plans. 

Significant design wins as well as extensive license renewals 

and extensions in an ever expanding range of markets 

drive future volume and royalty revenue. Our partners have 

continued to extend their use of our IP, not just to new 

generations of the same technology but across an increasing 

number of our IP product families. 

PowerVR graphics remains our most mature and best known 

product family, but more than 30% of SoCs shipping from 

our partners, by volume, contain our PowerVR video IP and 

more than 40% contain Meta IP. We also have a diverse and 

growing range of Meta processor licensees and our Ensigma 

communications and connectivity technology is being adopted 

by a rapidly expanding customer base, including a tier one 

licensee. 

Many of our partners now use several of our IP cores within 

their SoCs, significantly increasing the royalties per chip.

We are now seeing customers choosing to license multi-

processor versions of our IP cores to enable them to 

build a wider range of more powerful products, and take 

full advantage of the latest process nodes using our fully 

synthesizable IP’s inherent scalability. 

GPUCPU GPU
CPU

Multi-processor versions of our IP allow us to compete in 

higher-end markets too, while our smallest IP cores mean  

we are enabling higher volume, lower cost SoCs too. Indeed, 

our breadth of market from low to high end has never  

been stronger. 

The licensing we have achieved over the past few years is 

creating very strong and growing unit shipments and we have 

set an exciting new target of shipping 1 billion devices within 

5 years.

PURE continues its success as the leading consumer brand 

in its market and is continuing to grow, especially overseas. 

PURE keeps our technology firmly engaged with the latest 

consumer product trends and demands, especially in Cloud-

based multimedia connectivity. 

Imagination’s Partners
Each of our major IP families contains innovations and 

capabilities that attract world-leading partners, not only as 

customers, but as allies in the development of new markets, 

open standards and opportunities.

We have four main types of partner: 

•	 	IP	core	licensees,	who	are	our	main	customers

•	 	Industry	partners,	who	include	the	alliances	and	

organizations which help set the pace for technology change

•	 	Technology	partners,	representing	the	most	innovative	and	

successful technology businesses

•	 	Branded	consumer	electronics	manufacturers,	including	

some of the world’s most recognized OEMs

Our business is not built on achieving the highest number of 

partners, but rather working closely with the very best in the 

industry and keeping in step with their long-term strategies. 

Our ‘lead’ partners innovate in their primary target markets, and 

help shape our longer term IP roadmap to ensure that our 

technologies remain at the forefront of the markets we 

address. Lead partners engage with us by working with our As SoCs advance, the GPU is increasingly significant
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engineers to refine the specification of new IP, helping us to 

minimize risk and make sure we get the key features right  

first time, while providing them with the opportunity to get  

to market with a leading edge solution in the shortest  

possible time. 

As our IP becomes increasingly recognized as of strategic 

importance more and more customers are engaging with us 

as lead partners; our next generation graphics technology, 

PowerVR Series6, already has multiple lead partners.

We also foster new business by providing access to our IP for 

start-up and niche companies through a range of commercial 

arrangements. Often these are ‘speedboat’ companies who 

can provide aggressive focus and time to market to help our IP 

reach new market areas.

Imagination has a dynamic industry presence, working 

alongside many industry bodies and other leading technology 

organizations such as Adobe, Google and Microsoft. Our 

involvement in standards groups such as Khronos is helping to 

specify the products of tomorrow, and to make sure that key 

open standards are in line with our technology offerings.

More and more software developers are engaging with us  

to benefit from our expertise and industry contacts. They 

frequently use our software development kits (SDKs) and tools 

and many ship our tools as part of their own offerings. They 

also engage with us at engineering level to ensure they can 

deliver the best possible experiences by optimizing their 

content and tools for our IP.

We also work closely with engineering services, EDA 

(Electronic Design Automation) companies and silicon 

foundries to ensure our IP is ready for deployment in the  

latest processes. 

Imagination made real
Our PowerVR multimedia technologies continue to lead the 

field in mobile and embedded. We continue to see strong 

progress in other markets too with our graphics, video and 

display technologies being used by major manufacturers,  

and supported by industry giants across a broad range of 

operating systems. 

Our video and display technologies are now shipping in the 

mobile phone, mobile computing, in-car, TV and STB markets. 

Our graphics technology is used in the mobile phone, handheld 

multimedia, in-car, mobile computing, netbook, tablet, TV 

Business Overview
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and STB markets and will soon ship in the game console and 

camera markets too. 

Our communications and processor technologies have 

maintained their leadership position in the digital radio market 

and increased share in the connected audio and TV spaces. 

Combined with our innovative Flow technologies they will 

soon enable a new wave of connected products linked to the 

Cloud. Cloud attached silicon and the technologies needed 

to enable it are a key area for Imagination, as we develop 

the technologies that will help drive the M2M (machine to 

machine) revolution where billions of devices will become 

connected within the next 5-10 years.

Software technologies are critical for the success of our 

hardware IP and much of our success is predicated on the 

strength of our software teams. Unlike many hardware IP 

companies we excel in delivering software support, from 

comprehensive production quality drivers across all major 

operating systems through to SDKs (software development 

kits), tools and marketing demos. 

As we move forward, we will continue to refine, evolve and 

reinvent our technologies while expanding their reach into 

further new and dynamic market areas such as healthcare, 

security, smart power and M2M connectivity. 

Future Imagination
Our business is not just about our ability to deliver proven 

and well-supported IP today. It is fundamentally driven by 

our capability to create a roadmap of future technologies 

that accurately anticipates the requirements of tomorrow’s 

consumers and captures the support and increasing 

involvement of our partners.

Our partnerships with the strongest suppliers to the markets 

we target and our compelling IP roadmaps, the cornerstone of 

Imagination’s on-going leadership, will continue to take  

us forward.

Imagination continues to grow aggressively but largely 

organically. However, we also continuously seek out the best 

technologies that complement our core IP portfolio. This has 

recently led to two highly strategic acquisitions in Q4 2010: 

HelloSoft and Caustic Graphics.

HelloSoft is one of the world’s leading providers of V.VoIP 

(Video & Voice over Internet Protocol) and wireless LAN 

technologies. The acquisition of HelloSoft will enhance 

Imagination’s system-level communications capabilities by 

providing access to leading edge V.VoIP technology. With the 

migration to IP (internet protocol) networks, this is of increasing 

importance in all key markets, opening up the path for wider and 

deeper engagement with other parts of the telecommunications, 

consumer and embedded systems value chain.

Caustic Graphics specializes 

in ray tracing, a technique 

for rendering cinema quality 

3D at a level of near 

photographic realism that is 

impractical with traditional 

3D graphics techniques. 

Caustic has developed 

unique and patented 

hardware and software technologies to radically lower the cost 

and dramatically increase the efficiency and performance of 

ray tracing. 

The ray tracing approach has the added benefit of substantially 

simplifying content creation and reducing associated cost. 

Caustic technology operates fully in conjunction with and 

complements Imagination’s existing graphics processing IP. 

This helps ensure Imagination stays at technological forefront, 

driving major innovations in the growing 3D graphics market.

PURE is expected to continue to develop its reach, both in 

the UK and international markets. PURE will also pursue new 

product strategies that help Imagination to stimulate and drive 

new markets. It will continue to drive broadcast digital radio 

Image created using Lightworks from Lightwork Design
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adoption on an international level, while also fulfilling its role 

as a pathfinder for our Cloud technologies. Indeed PURE’s 

product innovations in this area are helping to create new 

licensable technologies for Imagination.

Competitive Imagination 
We have demonstrated our ability to be very robust and highly 

competitive in increasingly dynamic IP markets, winning key 

design slots with many of the leading players in our target 

markets and displacing our competitors. We are particularly 

pleased that, as the competitive landscape has become 

more crowded, evaluations of our IP by partners against 

alternatives has consistently shown our technological and 

quality advantages. The quality of our service and support, the 

reliability of our performance claims and the veracity of our 

R&D further reinforce these advantages.

Our main competition remains not other IP companies but 

the internal design capability of our customers. As such we 

must ensure that our IP offers benefits to our customers that 

far outweigh any advantages they could achieve by designing 

in-house.

Whilst competitors vary from core to core, Imagination’s 

consistent strength remains our ability to offer our exceptional 

performance, power consumption and functionality advantages 

in every one of the IP cores we design and develop, and 

provide a one-stop-shop for all the key functional blocks of 

modern SoC and Cloud-based system designs.

Ecosystems
The success of our technologies naturally gives rise to 

ecosystems of companies that create software or hardware 

using our IP, or create devices with our IP inside.

Our ecosystem programmes, which are increasingly becoming 

a differentiator of Imagination, provide our licensees and 

partners with everything they need to ensure success and time 

to market.

The ever-growing mass market deployment of our technologies 

means that leading applications are developed first and 

foremost for our technology with ports to other platforms 

coming much later, if at all. 

As use of our portfolio of IP technologies grows we are 

continually expanding our ecosystems and strategic 

partnership programmes, making them ever more valuable, 

comprehensive and rewarding.

Our graphics-focused PowerVR Insider programme is the 

leading 3D ecosystem in the mobile and embedded markets, 

with over 24,000 members (as of June 2011), including many 

leading application developers, which gives us access to 

showcase apps demonstrating the full capabilities of our 

PowerVR graphics technology.

We have continued to expand our ecosystem programmes, 

to help Imagination’s licensees and key partners meet and 

engage with a broad community of developers, middleware 

providers, foundries, EDA and tool vendors, and third-

party support teams and provide extensive co-marketing 

opportunities for product manufacturers, content developers 

and semiconductor companies.

Business Overview
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Imagination’s Vision
SoC
In order to be cost effective, complex SoCs must integrate 

a wide range of capabilities, which can be programmed or 

configured to allow them to be used in many functional and 

geographic markets. This has made single chip integration 

increasingly key to our customers’ strategies, leading to an 

uptake in the use of our SoC IP.

Connectivity
All mainstream consumer electronics products, including 

TVs, radios, cameras, printers and more will ultimately be 

connected to the internet and to each other. Indeed, this 

revolution will reach far beyond these ‘traditional’ consumer 

devices into products as diverse as security monitors, 

instrumentation, white goods, toys and much more. Our 

IP	is	extremely	small	(i.e.,	low	cost)	and	low	power	–	ideal	

characteristics to drive this key industry trend.

Cloud
Once a device has integrated connectivity, some of its features 

can instead be in the Cloud, a realm of storage, processing and 

sharing often accessed through internet portals. We provide 

a unique range of Cloud-based technologies and services 

specifically designed to meet the needs of consumer and 

embedded product designers, with much more to come. 

Software
Our extensive software capabilities, from drivers for key 

application programming interfaces (APIs) over multiple 

operating systems, to application-level reference code, tutorial 

examples and much more is a key part of our offering and 

a major differentiator. Indeed, despite being regarded as a 

hardware IP company, Imagination in fact has many more 

software engineers than hardware engineers, reflecting the 

significance of high quality software for our IP products.

Platforms
A key differentiator for Imagination is our ability to combine 

our technologies into platforms, which directly and efficiently 

provide solutions to our customers’ key requirements. 

Compared to our competitors we place more focus on system-

centric solutions, resulting in the shortest time from device 

development to volume sales.

Green
Consumers demand sound environmental credentials in the 

products they buy. Because we design all our IP for low power 

operation, our technologies are outstanding at delivering the 

best performance at lowest power consumption, whether 

battery or mains powered.

Markets
While our technologies can be found in a wide variety of 

different product form factors, the markets we are engaged 

in can be broadly classified into six categories: mobile phone 

multimedia, handheld multimedia, home consumer, mobile 

computing, in-car electronics and emerging markets.

Increasingly, consumers expect to be able to access the broad 

range of media and features they use every day no matter 

what device they are using. This ‘convergence’ means that the 

six categories increasingly share common requirements. Our 

common IP across all markets enables us to drive and ride the 

convergence trend.

We look for emerging markets, or ones in which ‘discontinuities’, 

or significant changes, are creating opportunities for disruptive 

new technologies and technology providers. We create 

exceptional technologies to exploit those opportunities.
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Mobile Phone Multimedia
Smartphones are driving growth in the mobile phone 

multimedia market and will account for around 50% of the 

total phone market within the next few years. It is increasingly 

accepted that high performance, low power graphics and 

video are the key to making a phone ‘smart’ especially as 

displays on such devices trend towards high-definition (HD). 

User interfaces and App Stores are now the key differentiators 

across phone models and brands. Both drive the need for ever 

more GPU performance. 

App Stores drive demand for 

consistency across hardware 

platforms, to ensure that 

content will always run 

regardless of what product  

is being used. Optimizing 

content for our IP delivers a 

winning advantage for Apps 

developers, across an ever 

broadening range of SoC and OS platforms. 

PowerVR graphics leads the market for 3D graphics 

acceleration in mobile phones, with our PowerVR video 

solutions not far behind. 

Handheld Multimedia
In the broader handheld 

multimedia market, which 

includes personal media 

players, digital cameras and 

handheld games consoles, 

we see devices following 

smartphone trends towards 

advanced graphical UI and 

App Stores. However certain 

of these devices, such as Sony’s PlayStation Vita are pushing 

mobile graphics to new levels of realism and performance. 

With our class-leading PowerVR multimedia technologies, 

handheld multimedia products can achieve exceptional 

multimedia functionality with long battery life. Our 

technologies are uniquely positioned to enable the new 

generation	of	media	players	–	with	graphics-rich	applications,	

HD video encode and decode, digital broadcast reception, 

connectivity and advanced, intuitive user interfaces as elegant 

as the product itself. As we move forward we expect that 

increasingly these devices will require Wi-Fi connectivity, which 

can be enabled using our MetaFlow and Ensigma UCC families. 

Home Consumer
In Digital TV and STB we are seeing the market moving at great 

speed towards internet connectivity and graphically advanced 

UIs. Gaming and other apps will follow. 

We are now seeing significant product deployments based  

on chip designs from our growing number of partners leading 

this market.

As the home increasingly 

becomes connected our 

technologies are ideally 

positioned to deliver full 

integration of connectivity 

onto the SoC. 

In home audio we continue 

to dominate the digital radio 

segment and have now taken 

a significant share in internet and connected audio as well as 

expanding our portfolio of global radio and TV standards.

With the debut of our Flow technology we also have a number 

of Cloud-based audio service offerings with our partners 

including music tagging, purchase and streaming.

Our multi-standard receiver and connectivity technologies, 

complemented by our significant strengths in HD multimedia 

(video, audio and graphics) enable us to provide unrivalled 

platform solutions in these markets.

Business Overview
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Mobile Computing
This segment contains many different device types: tablets, 

netbooks, smartbooks, e-readers and laptops amongst them. 

Each delivers innovative and uncompromised computing 

experiences in ultra-low-power highly mobile form factors, 

enabled by our technologies.

There is growing momentum 

in tablets, which are 

redefining mobile computing 

for consumers, and we are 

aware of much more 

innovation and product 

deployment to come as this 

major new market segment 

develops. Our technologies 

lead in this new device type, with the most significant tablets 

all PowerVR enabled, allowing them to combine low power for 

mobility while delivering advanced computing performance.

In-car Electronics
In-dash and portable navigation and in-car entertainment are 

now a mature and widespread market and we continue to see 

our partners gaining key design wins in this area, as well as in 

other in-car multimedia, such as cameras. 

Moving forward we expect 

that electronic dashboards 

will become the norm in new 

car designs and this 

represents a considerable 

opportunity for our 

technologies. We expect our 

existing relationships in this 

market to expand as 

multimedia becomes important to all aspects of car design. 

PowerVR graphics is a key technology for taking navigation, 

entertainment and dashboard graphics to the next level. High 

performance yet low power credentials enable PowerVR 

graphics to deliver advanced multimedia experiences while 

minimizing in-dash heat build-up, while our multi-standard, 

multi-stream video enables the delivery of the latest TV and 

movies to every screen in the car. 

The converged broadcast and connectivity capabilities of our 

Ensigma UCCP is also proving attractive within the automotive 

market enabling increased connectivity in cars as well as the 

richest flow of multi-standard broadcast content, whether 

popping down the street or heading across continents. 

Emerging Markets
Beyond our core markets we are increasingly finding new 

demands for our technology as we seek out emerging major 

growth markets. We can already see the way forward to our 

first billion units of partner devices but it is in emerging 

markets that we expect to find the opportunities for multi-

billion unit growth. From 

home automation to 

healthcare to green/smart 

energy, security and 

Machine-to-Machine (M2M) 

we are seeing significant 

new opportunities for all of 

our multimedia connectivity 

and Cloud technologies.

Given the diversity and capability of our IP family, and 

in particular our new Flow technology, we are forging 

partnerships in emerging markets that will see the deployment 

of Imagination’s technologies in an ever more diverse universe 

of devices. 

Imagination has already formed partnerships in several of 

these new market areas, including healthcare, smart power 

and more.
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Technologies
Our unique, patented technologies are embodied in our 

PowerVR, Ensigma, Meta and Flow technology families, which, 

whether delivered individually or as platform IP, deliver flexible 

solutions to some of the most difficult challenges of modern 

electronics.

These technologies are the building blocks for solutions with 

lower product costs and a differentiated end-product feature 

set that enable our customers to lead in their chosen markets.

Our technologies strike an optimum balance between 

programmability and optimized hardware, which ensures we 

achieve uncompromised performance while supporting open 

standards, which we think are crucial to convergence.

PowerVR
Central to the PowerVR family is our GPU: a graphics 

processing unit to run graphics and complex parallel tasks.

At the heart of this technology is a unique tile-based, deferred 

rendering (TBDR), shader-based architecture which allows a 

very small die size to deliver higher performance and higher 

image quality at lower power consumption than all competing 

technologies.

PowerVR GPUs are also capable of doing more than 

just graphics. By using compute-based APIs (application 

programming interfaces) such as OpenCL, the PowerVR 

architecture delivers vast parallel processing power, 

increasingly referred to as GPGPU: general purpose GPU. CPU 

scalability tends to ‘top-out’ at around two to four SMP CPU 

cores, with four cores rarely delivering much more than two 

and a half times the performance of a single CPU. GPGPUs, 

which are inherently parallel in design, are far more scalable, 

enabling GPUs with dozens or even hundreds of execution 

units to become increasingly commonplace in the years ahead. 

Indeed, we feel GPUs will increasingly come to dominate SoC 

‘heavy lifting’ processor-intensive computing.

PowerVR is also now delivering advanced graphics capability 

to digital TV, STB, in-car and handheld gaming devices. Our 

roadmap for PowerVR will continue to deliver innovations that 

lead the market, including ray-tracing and advanced multi-core 

solutions. 

All popular APIs and operating systems (OS) are supported 

by the PowerVR graphics core family, including OpenCL 1.x, 

OpenGL ES 1.x, 2.x and the forthcoming ‘Halti’, OpenVG 1.x, 

OpenGL 2.x and 3.x and DirectX 9/10/11, with solutions for iOS, 

Symbian, Linux, Android, QNX and the Windows family of OS. 

As the Windows platform drives the convergence of desktop 

and consumer appliances the ability to properly support 

DirectX is key. Imagination is one of the only technology IP 

companies with direct experience of delivering production 

DirectX solutions, having done so for more than 20 years. 

The PowerVR family also includes a VPU: a video  

processing unit. 

At the heart of this 

technology we build on  

the underlying architectural 

philosophies of PowerVR 

graphics to use the lowest 

power and memory by  

only processing what is 

absolutely necessary. Our 

video technology is an 

exceptional balance of 

hardcoded and programmable elements, which combine to 

deliver the most efficient multi-standard and multi-stream 

video decoders and encoders.

Today our video decode technology is extensively deployed 

in smartphone, netbook, tablet and connected/TV devices. 

The pace of change in this market is accelerating, driven by 

consumer excitement for video content that is un-tethered 

from the TV and the convergence of video cameras into 

Business Overview
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other mobile devices. Imagination is at the forefront of video 

technology for the mobile and embedded market.

In future we expect our VXD decode and VXE encode video 

IPs to become key features in mobile and embedded devices 

as the revolution in commercial video content delivery, social 

networking, user generated content, multi-stream preview and 

video telephony continues to accelerate.

Our VXD and VXE cores support all the major video standards 

including H.264 (Base to High profile), MPEG-4, MPEG-2, 

VC-1/WMV, AVS, Sorenson and JPEG. Many VXD cores now 

also offer hardware rotation and scaling, delivering significant 

reductions in bandwidth and power consumption. When 

combined with on-GPU cores, many more dynamic effects can 

be achieved thanks to uniquely efficient linkage between these 

cores that cannot be matched by our competitors.

PowerVR display is another key part of the PowerVR portfolio, 

enabling the refinement of each display pixel. 

This technology deliveres an 

unrivalled range of display 

enhancement technologies 

for high-definition TV (HDTV) 

and mobile devices. From 

skin tone and blue/black 

stretch engines to state-of-

the-art interlace-to-

progressive scan conversion 

technologies; from frame 

rate conversion to display pipelines, including Stereoscopic 3D 

–	PowerVR	display	technologies	have	it	covered.

With our expertise in the area of display processing, our 

partners have shipped tens of millions of units of PowerVR 

display IP into the market to date.

Our PowerVR I2P IP cores achieve exceptional de-interlace 

performance up to full HD resolutions, while using innovative 

new algorithms to deliver the highest performance in far 

smaller silicon area than traditional solutions. 

Our latest PowerVR FRC IP cores enable full motion estimation 

motion compensation (MEMC) frame rate conversion to 

1080P240 in a silicon area from under 1.5 mm2 in 40LP.

Today our display technologies are used across a very broad 

range of markets and we expect particular growth in its mobile 

deployment. PowerVR FRC is the industry’s first FRC core that 

is sufficiently small to be integrated on an SoC while offering 

the required performance to enable deployment of FRC both in 

high volume mobile and embedded SoC applications, as well 

as more traditional FRC applications such as TV. 

Ensigma
Ensigma’s main technology, the UCCP (Universal 

Communications Core Platform) is an RPU: a radio-processing 

unit to run communications and connectivity tasks. 

At the heart of this technology is a uniquely optimized 

balance of programmability and hardware configurability, yet 

it occupies equivalent or less silicon area than comparable to 

hard-wired, single-standard hardware solutions.

UCCP	is	a	multi-standard	baseband	transceiver	–	one	core	

for all radio, TV and connectivity standards. It uses a unique 

combination of hardware and software to create an ideally 

flexible architecture with programmability and fixed hardware 

blocks in sophisticated balance. 

Our Ensigma UCC technology has already shipped in tens of 

millions of devices. 

Today UCCP solves the problem of proliferating broadcast  

and connectivity standards by supporting them all on a  

single device.



25

Modem

TV

Radio

SoC

Wi-Fi Processor
CPU

Communications
RPU

Multimedia
GPU + VPU

Memory

We keep adding new standards support to the UCCP family 

including DVB-T2, DVB-S2/S, worldwide cable (DVB-C/J.83B/

ISDB-C) and GB20600 Chinese Digital Terrestrial TV. These 

formats extend the already broad range supported by the 

UCCP family, which already supports the 802.11a/b/g family of 

Wi-Fi standards, digital TV (ATSC (8VSB), Nordig Unified 2.0 

DVB-T, Full-seg ISDB-T), mobile TV (DVB-H, T-DMB, 1-seg 

ISDB-T) and digital radio (DAB, DAB+ and FM with RDS and 

3-seg ISDB-T).

In the future we will grow the range of standards supported 

by the UCCP even further with support for 802.11n Wi-Fi (up 

to 4x4 MIMO) and Bluetooth 2.1+EDR and 3.0, CMMB, and 

other emerging communications and broadcast standards. 

Availability of these will be announced together with partners 

in due course as the Ensigma ecosystem continues to gain 

momentum.

Meta
Meta is a CPU: a multi-threaded central processing unit to run 

operating systems and signal processing (like audio).

Meta’s unified architecture delivers powerful digital signal 

processing (DSP) and general-purpose processing within the 

same CPU, while multi-threading ‘hides’ memory latency in 

SoC solutions, enabling it to deliver up to three times the 

performance of similar conventional CPUs. 

Meta has all the benefits of multi-processor solutions but 

uses less silicon resource and development complexity than 

other multi-processor approaches. Hardware multi-threading 

is	a	key	technology	for	Imagination	–	most	of	our	IP	cores	use	

this approach to extract the maximum possible processor 

performance from every clock cycle.

Conventional CPUs stall frequently due to what is known as a 

‘cache miss’, a mismatch between the data the CPU requires 

and the data held in cache memory. It can take thousands 

of processing cycles to re-sync. Meta switches between up 

to four virtual CPUs clock by clock, optimizing the use of all 

execution resources within the CPU every single clock cycle. 

The result is a processor that almost always executes useful 

work every clock, making it far more efficient.

Meta evolved from technologies used in PowerVR graphics. 

As well as being an integral part of our UCCP and PowerVR 

video platforms, Meta is licensed as a core part of SoC designs 

based on our IP. It is also now being increasingly licensed as 

a stand-alone embedded processor as more of our partners 

come to appreciate its unique capabilities. 

Today Meta enables over 70% of DAB digital radios and a wide 

range of connected audio devices. 

In future Meta will also be used in emerging markets such 

as healthcare and smart power. It will continue to be a key 

part of our video solutions and our new MetaFlow connected 

processor family, which will enable ‘always on’ internet 

connectivity in mass market consumer and embedded 

products. 

Meta processors run a wide 

range of operating systems, 

including full Linux (both 

single processor and 

symmetric multi-processor 

(SMP)), Android, and our 

own MeOS real-time 

operating system (RTOS). 

Business Overview
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Flow Technology
Imagination’s Flow technology is a comprehensive and unique 

end-to-end connectivity solution, optimized for MetaFlow 

processors and incorporating the sophisticated and highly 

configurable FlowWorld portal. It establishes a new benchmark 

for connecting devices to the Cloud. 

Flow technology enables an end-to-end solution for delivery 

of services and content between service providers and 

users through the cloud. This highly streamlined IP platform 

will become a key enabler of future ‘always-on’ internet 

connectivity. 

Flow technology is already being used to deliver PURE’s 

Lounge portal and FlowSongs music purchase and Cloud  

audio service. 

In the future using Flow technology, we will enable the next 

wave of ubiquitous connectivity in all manner of embedded 

products across consumer, industrial and enterprise segments. 

Using the platform’s advanced APIs it is possible for a wide 

range of developers, large and small, to prototype and deploy 

truly connected products and solutions without requiring  

the broad range of engineering and commercial know-how and 

resources usually only found in the biggest industry players.

Flow technology will enable 

the growth and acceleration 

of markets for products 

featuring connectivity across 

an increasingly diverse 

range of applications such 

as home automation, 

security, entertainment, 

toys, and healthcare. New 

categories will be created 

and old ones revitalised by this ubiquitous connectivity 

technology, which enables embedded devices to deliver their 

functionality using an optimal mix of local and internet 

resources. Just as we helped to revolutionize the use of 

graphics across the mobile and embedded markets we intend 

to do the same for connected embedded devices with  

Flow technology.

Flow APIs Flow APIs

FlowWorld
Servers

MetaFlow 
Connected 
Processor

Fl W l

Services Products
Cameras, tablets, doorbells 
coffee machines, toys…

Security, healthcare, payment 
music, smart power…

Internet
(the Cloud)

Connecting consumer and 

M2M devices to cloud-based 

services	–	‘shrink-wrapped’
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Supporting our IP
As well as our core technologies we have a number  

of important technology offerings that support our  

customers’ designs.

Codescape is our comprehensive suite of development 

tools, which supports the advanced and unique features 

of Imagination’s IP cores. On-time delivery of leading-edge 

embedded solutions requires world-class tools. Codescape 

streamlines programming, debugging and application 

optimization at all stages of SoC development to reduce  

time-to-market and ensure the best power consumption and 

system use.

Codescape already supports heterogeneous multi-processor 

SoCs making it a unique debug environment that works on all 

of the SoC, not just parts. We are continuing to expand the 

toolchain across all of our IP families.

IMGworks is an SoC 

integration support 

capability that we offer our 

customers to help them 

deliver their SoC designs, 

totally focused on solving 

the most difficult problems 

in specific and challenging 

areas of silicon design. 

IMGworks offers the 

complete range of SoC integration, physical design, and 

custom development services. We also have our Platform 

Services group which is dedicated to helping customers 

accelerate time to market for their products by providing 

software integration, customization and optimization services. 

Together they enable licensees to fully exploit our IP offerings.

Imagination focuses on how to most practically deliver our IP, a 

feature we think is crucial to our success as an IP company. Via 

IMGworks for example we implement our IP on test chips and 

optimize layouts for customer silicon so that we can then offer 

IP which is in the best possible state for swift time to volume. 

By working closely with EDA companies and foundries, 

IMGworks ensures our IP is ready to be used in any design 

flow and at all process nodes.

We only ship synthesizable IP which can be used at any silicon 

manufacture process node, whether by companies on the 

cutting edge of process development, or by smaller fabless 

companies using tried and trusted processes and aggressive 

cost engineering. 

The quality of support we offer our licensees both before and 

after licensing is a crucial differentiator of our business. We 

continue to grow our support teams around the world, allowing 

us to provide extensive on-site support close to our licensees 

and partners wherever it is needed, whatever the time zone. 

We also have the capability to host multiple partners at our 

offices in the UK.

Business Overview
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PURE
As well as our Technology division, Imagination has a 

consumer electronics division, PURE, which is tasked  

with delivering market driving products in pursuit of our  

overall strategy.

First and foremost PURE creates award-winning consumer 

products which lead in their chosen markets. PURE was built 

on a foundation of innovative products which have won many 

loyal fans. The success of those products created the basis 

for a brand built on product quality and ground-breaking new 

features. We are now able to use the strength of that brand to 

drive new product concepts utilizing our IP into the market to a 

highly receptive audience.

The PURE brand encompasses ground-breaking and  

award-winning products that have won strong media and 

public acclaim.

Beyond that PURE keeps us in touch with consumers’ 

preferences and enthusiasms, integrates and promotes our 

technology, acts as a pathfinder and catalyst in new markets, 

and is a potentially attractive lead customer design-win for our 

licensees’ chips.

PURE has recently launched three more radios with Flow 

technology (ONE Flow, Contour and Sirocco 550), which takes 

the connected range to eight products. 

The PURE Lounge internet portal, based on FlowWorld portal 

technology, now offers over 18,000 internet radio stations, 

along with podcasts, listen again content and unique PURE 

sounds. 

PURE is the UK’s number one radio brand and is now a 

significant presence in overseas radio markets including the 

USA, Norway, Denmark, France, Australia, Belgium, Italy, 

Ireland, Switzerland, Germany and Malta.

PURE will continue to strengthen its handheld and in-car  

DAB options, creating further convergence products for 

docking and streaming and developing new music streaming 

platforms. There will be key extensions to the connected 

product range, further exclusive Lounge content and major 

updates to Lounge apps across multiple platforms. PURE 

recently completely revamped the Lounge adding a music 

store and new search facilities. PURE’s on-going range 

refreshment programme will introduce compelling new 

features and help invigorate the digital radio market, as 

will further promotional campaigns to be introduced by the 

broadcasters with whom PURE works closely. 

The Group’s investment in developing its new Flow IP portfolio, 

first deployed in the PURE Flow range, will enable Imagination 

to drive the next generation of Cloud-based products and 

services. 

These connected technologies and services are considered of 

significant strategic importance to the Group. PURE is making 

valuable contributions to the development of fundamental 

intellectual property in this area, which is a key factor in the 

Group’s future strategies. 

We are confident that as the ‘digital switchover’ gathers 

pace across Europe and the world PURE is well positioned 

to maintain its leadership position in radio, audio and other 

markets, while continuing to deliver new and strategic 

technologies back into Imagination’s Technology division.
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Geoff Shingles 
(aged 72)   

CBE, BSc (Hons), FIEE, FBCS 

Chairman

Geoff was, until April 1994, 

Executive Chairman of Digital 

Equipment Co. Limited, where 

he served for 29 years. While at 

Digital, he worked both in the US and Continental Europe. He 

joined the Imagination Technologies board in 1994 becoming 

Chairman in 1996. He is Non-Executive Chairman of Sarantel 

Group Plc and is also a Non-Executive Director of a number of 

private companies. 

Richard Smith
(aged 41)   

MBA, MA, FCA 

Chief Financial Officer

Richard holds an MBA from 

Henley Business School, 

is a Fellow of the Institute 

of Chartered Accountants 

in England and Wales and has an MA in Economics from 

Cambridge University. His early career included positions 

with Porsche Cars and PricewaterhouseCoopers. Richard has 

worked in a number of privately held technology businesses as 

CFO, and prior to that held senior financial roles at Vodafone. 

Richard joined Imagination Technologies in May 2011 and was 

appointed to the Board as Chief Financial Officer on 1 July 2011.

Hossein Yassaie  
(aged 54) 

PhD

Chief Executive Officer

After attaining his PhD, Hossein 

was a research fellow at the 

University of Birmingham. He 

then joined STMicroelectronics/

Inmos, where he spent eight years, ultimately becoming 

responsible for the system divisions, including research and 

development, manufacturing and marketing. After joining 

Imagination in 1992 as Technical Director, Hossein refocused 

the business on advanced technology development and created 

Imagination’s successful silicon IP business model. He became 

Chief Executive Officer in June 1998.

David Hurst-Brown
(aged 62) 

BSc (Hons), FSI

Non-Executive Director

David worked for most of his 

career in the securities industry. 

In 2002 he left UBS, where, 

for more than ten years he 

had worked in Corporate Finance as adviser to a wide range 

of companies. David now works mainly as a consultant and 

his Non-Executive Directorships include Anite plc, Ffastfill plc 

and KeyData AIM VCT plc. He joined the board of Imagination 

Technologies as a Non-Executive Director in September 2000 

and is Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the 

Remuneration Committee.
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Secretary 
A Llewellyn

Registered Office 
Imagination House 

Home Park Estate  

Kings Langley  

Hertfordshire   

WD4 8LZ

Registered number 
2920061

Financial advisers and 
stockbrokers 
J.P. Morgan Cazenove

Auditors 
KPMG Audit Plc

Solicitors 
Olswang

Registrars 
Capita Registrars

Bankers 
HSBC Bank plc

Imagination Technologies Group plc

Ian Pearson
(aged 68)   

Dip Tech (Hons), C.Eng, FIEE

Non-Executive Director

Ian has over 30 years 

experience with companies 

specializing in semiconductor 

design, manufacturing and 

management, with director level responsibilities. These 

companies include Inmos and SGS Thompson. He joined the 

board as Non-Executive Director in 1998. He is Chairman of the 

Remuneration Committee and serves on the Audit Committee. 

Ian is the senior Non-Executive Director.

David Anderson
(aged 55) 

Non-Executive Director

David has 27 years investment 

banking experience including 17 

years at Lazard and six years at 

JP Morgan Cazenove. He joined 

the board of Imagination Technologies as a Non-Executive 

Director in November 2010 and is a member of the Audit 

Committee and the Remuneration Committee.

Directors and Advisers
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Directors’ Report 
 

The Directors submit their Annual Report and audited Financial Statements for the year ended 30 April 2011. 

Principal Activities 
The principal activities of the Group are the design, development and marketing of multimedia technology, and products incorporating 
this technology. 

Review of Business  
The value and relevance of the Group’s technologies is reflected in Imagination’s continued strong growth despite the challenges to 
the global economic environment.  

The full year saw excellent financial and strategic progress for the Technology business, with strong chip volume and royalty growth 
and a very active licensing period. The Group successfully closed a number of important licensing deals and secured many new 
partners. This resulted in a significant jump in operating profit for the Technology business.  

The PURE business continued to be constrained in the short-term by the general economic pressure on consumer spending, 
particularly in the UK market, which has to date been the main driver of PURE’s revenues. However it is important to note that PURE, 
in its own right, is making very valuable contributions to the development of fundamental intellectual property that are critical for key 
aspects of the Group’s future strategies.  

Cash resources, which have increased to £49.4m, are adequate for the Group’s future needs. 

A more detailed assessment of the Company’s position and future prospects has been included in the Chief Executive’s Review.  
This incorporates any significant events since the year end. Further details are included in pages 3 to 9 of the Annual Report and 
Financial Statements. 

The profit before tax for the Group for the year ended 30 April 2011 was £16.4m. There was a taxation credit of £2.9m which resulted 
in a net profit for the year of £19.3m. Detail is set out in the Consolidated Income Statement on page 49. 

The Directors do not propose the payment of a dividend (2010: £Nil). 

The key performance indicators used in the business are summarised below. The performance of the business in the terms of these 
indicators is considered in the Chief Executive’s Review in pages 3 to 9 of the Annual Report and Financial Statements. 
 
  Year to Year to 
  30 April 2011 30 April 2010 % 

Technology business 
 Licensing Revenue £28.5m £22.9m +24% 
 Partner Chip Design Wins 115 91 +26% 
 Partner Chips Shipping 48 37 +30% 
 Partner Chips Shipped (units) 245m 126m +94% 
 Royalty Revenue £41.3m £24.4m +69% 
 
PURE Digital business 
 Revenue £28.2m £33.6m -16% 
 Adjusted operating loss* (£2.8m) (£0.3m)  
 
Group 
 Revenue £98.0m £80.9m +21% 
 Gross Profit £77.3m £55.9m +38% 
 Adjusted Profit before taxation* £24.0m  £13.3m +80%  
  Profit before taxation £16.4m £10.2m +61% 
 Cash and cash equivalents £49.4m £29.4m +68% 
 

* The reconciliation from reported profit to adjusted profit is set out in note 2. 

Principal Risks and Uncertainties 
There are a number of risks and uncertainties which could impact the Group’s performance. The Group has a risk management 
structure in place which is designed to identify, manage and mitigate business risk. The relevant structures are more fully described in 
the Group’s internal control and risk management procedures in the Corporate Governance Report on page 42. The Group has 
experienced, and may in the future experience, fluctuations in the results of its operations. There are a number of factors that can 
affect the results. For the Technology business, these include the timing of new licence agreements with partners, the achievement 
of development project milestones and the timing and volume of products incorporating the Group’s technology shipped by our 
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partners. The Group seeks to reduce this risk by both broadening the number of partners who utilize the Group’s technology as well 
as widening the number of market segments that are targeted by the Group’s partners. For the Group’s PURE business, these factors 
also include the rate of adoption of digital radio technologies worldwide and the continuation of the supply of products from Chinese 
manufacturers. The Group has mitigated the latter by spreading the manufacture of the Group’s products across a number of 
manufacturers in order to reduce the reliance on any one manufacturer. 

The Group operates in fast moving competitive marketplaces characterized by rapid changes in technology. The Group’s result will be 
impacted by the introduction of new technologies and products by the Group and by the Group’s competitors as they respond to 
these changes in technology. In order to mitigate risk, the Group has detailed dialogue with existing partners, as well as systems 
companies and industry bodies, in order to align its future products with advances in technology and market requirements. 

As a technology business, the development and ownership of intellectual property is fundamental to the Group’s performance. Whilst 
the Group relies on patent, copyright, trademark and other intellectual property laws to establish and protect its proprietary rights, it 
cannot be certain that its proprietary rights will not be challenged, invalidated, circumvented or used without the Group’s 
authorization. The Group mitigates the risk by filing patents, trademarks and registered designs as appropriate to protect its 
intellectual property and through monitoring technologies promoted by third parties. 

The Group transacts licence and development agreements with customers and purchases of products for PURE primarily in US 
dollars and, therefore, the Group’s earnings are exposed to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates. The Group reviews its foreign 
exchange exposure on a regular basis and, if there is a material exposure to exchange rate fluctuations and the Board considers it 
appropriate, the Group will reduce the risk by currency hedging on net receivable/payable balances. No amounts were hedged during 
the year although this is under continual review by the Board. 

The Group’s performance is also subject to external macro economic conditions. Changes in factors such as interest rates, inflation, 
unemployment and commodity prices can create uncertainty in the Group’s markets and affect consumer spending. This may result 
in the Group’s customers and potential customers delaying the placing of orders with the Group and/or the reduced shipment of 
products incorporating the Group’s technology. In turn, both of these would adversely affect the Group’s result. 

Future Developments 
The Group intends to continue to develop its range of graphics, video, display, processing and communication technologies for use in 
SoC (System-on-Chip) devices. The Group will market these technologies to existing and new customers with a view to entering into 
commercial agreements for customers to incorporate the Group’s technology in their SoC devices.  

The PURE business will continue to develop additional products using the Group’s digital radio technology and internet 
connectivity/streaming audio technology. These products will be marketed to existing customers in the UK, and increasingly to 
overseas customers as digital radio markets emerge worldwide. 

Research and Development 
The Group spent £44,696,000 (2010: £35,370,000) on research and development and advanced technology projects. 

Donations 
During the year the Group made donations for charitable purposes of £1,209 (2010: £15,922). There were no political donations during 
the year (2010: £Nil). The Parent Company made no donations in the current year (2010: £Nil). 

Purchase of own shares 
At the AGM in 2010, shareholders granted the Company the authority to purchase, in the market, its own shares. During the year the 
Company did not undertake to purchase any of its own shares in the market place. At the AGM in 2011, the Directors will be 
presenting and proposing similar authority to shareholders.  

Directors during the Year 
G S Shingles, H Yassaie, T Selby, I R Pearson and D A Hurst-Brown served as Directors throughout the year. D Anderson was 
appointed a Non-Executive Director of the Company on 25 November 2010. 

Election and re-election of Directors 
In line with the provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code 2008 each Director will be standing for re-election at the Annual 
General Meeting of the Company to be held on 19 August 2011. Trevor Selby will be leaving the Board on 1 July 2011 and Richard 
Smith will be appointed as a Director and replace him as Chief Financial Officer on that date. 

Executive Directors’ service agreements are contracts of employment with a rolling notice period of less than one year. 

Non-Executive Directors do not have any unexpired notice periods in their contracts. 

The disclosable interests of Directors at 30 April 2011 including holdings, if any, of wives and children aged under 18 were as detailed 
in the Remuneration Report on page 47 and they remain unchanged as at 22 June 2011. Details of incentive awards to Directors are 
shown in the Remuneration Report on page 45. 
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Corporate Governance 
The Corporate Governance statement on pages 38 to 42 forms part of the Directors’ Report. 

Disclosure of information to auditors 
The Directors who held office at the date of approval of this Directors’ Report confirm that, so far as they are each aware, there is no 
relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditors are unaware; and each Director has taken all the steps that he ought to 
have taken as a Director to make himself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditors are 
aware of that information. 

Share Capital 
The Company’s share capital consists of ordinary shares with a par value of 10 pence each and there were 258,152,628 ordinary 
shares in issue as at 30 April 2011. The rights attached to ordinary shares are as follows: 

1. Each share carries the right to one vote at general meetings of the Company, and  

2. Shareholders are entitled to a dividend where declared. 

There are no specific restrictions on the transfer of ordinary shares in the Company other than certain restrictions imposed by laws, 
regulations and Listing Rules. There are no persons holding securities in the Company carrying special rights with regard to control of 
the Company. The Company is not aware of any agreement between holders of securities that may result in restrictions on the 
transfer of securities or on voting rights.  

Substantial Interests  
As at 9 June 2011 the Company had been notified or was aware that the following had direct or indirect interests in 3% or more of 
the share capital of the Company: 

 
  Ordinary Shares of 10p  Percentage 
   in the Company Holding 

Intel Capital Corporation  38,396,664 14.9% 
M&G Investment Management  28,017,431 10.8% 
Apple Inc  23,047,770 8.9% 
AXA Financial SA  21,956,871 8.5% 
Legal & General Investment Management   8,651,674 3.4% 
 

Going Concern Basis 
As set out in Basis of Preparation in note 1, the Group continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial 
statements. 

Qualifying Indemnity Provision 
The Company’s Articles of Association has a qualifying indemnity provision. The Company has in place insurance cover for its 
Directors and Officers with a cover limit of £5,000,000 throughout the year. 

Change of Control 
The Company’s share based incentive plans contain provisions relating to a change of control. The outstanding share options, long-
term incentive plans, share awards and performance share award to the CEO would normally vest and become exercisable on a 
change of control of the Company, subject to the satisfaction of the performance targets. 

Employee Involvement 
The Group recognizes the importance and contribution of its employees. There is considerable value placed on the involvement of 
employees in the development of the business and their participation in the decision making process. This is encouraged by the open 
environment in the Group and through the delegation of responsibility throughout the business. Presentations are made to all staff on 
a regular basis to encourage a full understanding of the Group’s strategy, vision and operational developments. Most employees 
receive share awards and are invited to participate in the SAYE scheme every year via share plans. A number of employees have 
become shareholders thereby encouraging employee share ownership.  

The Group is committed to the principle of equal opportunity in employment and to ensuring that no applicant or employee receives 
less favourable treatment on the grounds of age, gender, disability, ethnic origin, political or other opinion, religion or sexual 
orientation. 

Disability is not seen as an inhibitor to employment or career development. Employees who become disabled are, wherever possible, 
given assistance to continue in their existing employment or to be trained for other positions. 
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Corporate Responsibility 
Information relating to environmental, social and community polices are provided in the Corporate Governance Report on page 41.  

Significant Relationships  
The Group does not have any contractual or other relationships with any single party which are essential to the business of the Group 
and therefore no such relationships have been disclosed.  

Creditor Payment Policy 
It is Group policy to agree payment terms with suppliers when negotiating contracts or transactions.  

The Group ensures that, subject to any necessary variations which may result from supplier-related problems, the agreed payment 
terms are adhered to. 

The number of days billings from suppliers outstanding to the Group at 30 April 2011 was 39 days (2010: 36 days). The Parent 
Company is purely a holding Company with investments and does not have trade creditors. 

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in respect of the Annual Report and the Financial Statements 
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report- and the Group and Parent Company financial statements in accordance 
with applicable law and regulations. 

Company law requires the Directors to prepare Group and Parent Company financial statements for each financial year. Under that 
law they are required to prepare the Group financial statements in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and applicable law 
and have elected to prepare the Parent Company financial statements in accordance with UK Accounting Standards and applicable 
law (UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). 

Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair 
view of the state of affairs of the Group and Parent Company and of their profit or loss for that period. In preparing each of the Group 
and Parent Company financial statements, the Directors are required to: 

•  select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 

•  make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 

•  for the Group financial statements, state whether they have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU; 

•  for the Parent Company financial statements, state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to 
any material departures disclosed and explained in the Parent Company financial statements; and 

•  prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group and the Parent 
Company will continue in business. 

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Parent Company’s 
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Parent Company and enable them to 
ensure that its financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They have general responsibility for taking such steps as 
are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities. 

Under applicable law and regulations, the Directors are also responsible for preparing a Directors’ Report, Directors’ Remuneration 
Report and Corporate Governance Statement that complies with that law and those regulations. 

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the Company’s 
website. Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other 
jurisdictions.  

Directors’ Responsibility Statement 
The Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge: 

•  the financial statements, prepared in accordance with the applicable set of accounting standards, give a true and fair view of the 
assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Company and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a 
whole; and  

•  the Directors’ Report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and the position of the Company 
and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole, together with a description of the principal risks and 
uncertainties that they face.  
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Auditors 
A resolution is to be proposed at the Annual General Meeting for the re-appointment of KPMG Audit Plc as auditors of the Company. 

Annual General Meeting (AGM)  
The AGM will be held at 11.00 a.m. on 19 August 2011 at Imagination House, Home Park Estate, Kings Langley, Hertfordshire WD4 
8LZ. Business to be transacted at the Meeting is set out in full in the Notice of the AGM. After the AGM, the Company will publish on 
its website the proxy votes cast in respect of each resolution voted on at the AGM. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

By order of the Board 
A. Llewellyn 
Secretary 

22 June 2011  

Company Number: 2920061
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Corporate Governance  
 

Compliance with the Combined Code 
The Board is accountable to shareholders for the effective direction and control of the Group and this Annual Report provides details 
of the framework of corporate governance and internal controls that the Directors have put in place to enable them to carry out this 
responsibility. The Group has complied with the Combined Code on Corporate Governance (‘the Code’) 2008 and applied the 
principles of the Code during the year. Any areas of non-compliance of the Code are noted at the end of this section. 

Board Composition and Operation  
The Company operates through the Board of Directors and after the appointment of David Anderson on 25 November 2010, the 
Board comprised six Directors, three Executive Directors (including the Chairman who carries out his duties on a part-time basis of 40 
days per annum) and three Non-Executive Directors. Biographical details for each of the Directors are set out on pages 31 to 32. 

Chairman 
The Chairman is responsible for the leadership and management of the Board. He ensures its effectiveness on all aspects of its role, 
setting its agenda and ensuring that the Directors receive accurate, timely and clear information. The Chairman facilitates the effective 
contribution of Non-Executive Directors and ensures constructive relations between Executive and Non-Executive Directors. The 
Chairman maintains the proper and appropriate level of communication with shareholders. During the year the Chairman has held 
meetings with the Non-Executive Directors without the Executives being present. 

The Board is satisfied that the Chairman’s other professional commitments listed on page 31 do not interfere with the performance of 
his duties for the Company. 

Chief Executive Officer  
The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the day-to-day management of the business. He is the key driver for proposing, 
developing and implementing the Group’s strategy as agreed by the Board. The Chief Executive Officer carries out his duties in 
consultation with the Chairman, the Board and Executive Management Board (‘EMB’) which in turn are responsible for the 
commercial and operational activities of the Group. The Chief Executive Officer is also responsible, with the Executive team, for 
implementing the decisions of the Board and its Committees. 

Senior Independent Director 
The Senior Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company is Ian Pearson. He has appropriate dialogue with institutional 
shareholders to ensure their views are communicated to the Group and ensures that the performance evaluation of the Chairman is 
conducted effectively. 

Mr Pearson and Mr Hurst-Brown became Directors of the Company in 1998 and 2000, respectively, and have therefore been 
connected with the Group for more than 9 years. Non-Executive Directors have shareholdings in the Company as disclosed in the 
table on page 47. The Board continues to monitor the composition of the Board in line with the recommendations of the Code. Taking 
into account that both Mr Pearson and Mr Hurst-Brown have been connected with the Group for more than 9 years, the Board has 
reviewed and considered the independence of the Non-Executive Directors with particular care and scrutiny. All Directors contribute 
significantly through their individual skills and their considerable knowledge of both the Group and the industry, and they currently 
provide continuity and an overall balance to the Board. In particular, they continue to demonstrate a strong independence of 
management in the manner in which they discharge their responsibilities as Directors. Accordingly, the Board considers that Ian 
Pearson and David Hurst-Brown are independent Non-Executive Directors.   

Operation of the Board 
The Board is responsible for the overall direction, strategy and performance of the Group. The Board usually meets formally on a 
monthly basis. There is a formal agenda of items to be addressed at Board Meetings which includes matters specifically reserved for 
the Board, principally comprising: Group wide business and financial reviews, major capital or revenue expenditure, acquisitions or 
disposals, onerous business terms, treasury, risk items and board appointments. At each meeting both the Chief Executive Officer 
and Chief Financial Officer present their respective reports, the Chief Executive Officer giving a full business update with focus on the 
Group’s relationships with current and potential partners and highlighting business-critical issues, and the Chief Financial Officer 
presenting the financial results for the year to date together with latest financial forecasts. All Directors have access to the advice and 
services of the Company Secretary, who attends the monthly Board meetings and is responsible to the Board for ensuring that board 
procedures are complied with and that good information flows within the Board and Committees. Both the appointment and removal 
of the Company Secretary are a matter for the Board as a whole. 
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By also attending and monitoring the content of meetings and agendas, the Directors consider that there is sufficient structure to 
ensure the Company’s strategy and control remain in its hands.  

The Board also meets periodically with senior management from the Group’s Technology and PURE divisions in order to review the 
strategic direction of the business. The main objectives are to assess and decide upon the key technologies/products/markets for the 
business to exploit by assessing the potential returns against the risks. The result is a common vision of the future aspirations of the 
business and an understanding of the function and goals that each division has within the strategy. Divisional business plans are built 
around executing the strategic plan. 

The Company’s EMB meets on a weekly basis, with attendance by the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. At a formal 
monthly meeting of the EMB, each member provides a monthly operational report in which progress against plan is reviewed to 
ensure that this is in line with the Group’s strategic and business targets.  

Performance Evaluation 
During the year, the Board reviewed its performance along with that of the Audit and Remuneration Committees. This assessment of 
performance is carried out by considering the objectives of each body and assessing the degree to which these objectives have been 
met. In the case of each Director, the performance review takes into account an individual’s level of commitment to the role, effective 
contribution and achievement in carrying out the role. The Non-Executive Directors are responsible for performance evaluation of the 
Chairman, taking into account the views of the Executive Directors.  

During the year, the Chairman periodically held meetings with the Non-Executive Directors without the Executive Directors being 
present and, in addition, the Non-Executives periodically held meetings without the Chairman or the Executive Directors  
being present. 

Board Appointments and changes 
All nominations to the Board will be considered by the Board and, during the year David Anderson was appointed a Non-Executive 
Director to the Board. On the 1 July 2011 Trevor Selby will leave the Board and Richard Smith will be appointed as a Director and 
replace him as Chief Financial Officer. The Board considers the appropriate composition of the Board from time to time and in future 
will continue to review its make up. As the Board is small, a Nominations Committee has not been appointed. 

Audit Committee 
Members of the Committee 
During the year, the Audit Committee comprised David Hurst-Brown as Chairman, Ian Pearson and David Anderson as members. With 
effect from 8 June 2011, David Anderson took over as Chairman of the Audit Committee from David Hurst-Brown. The Code requires 
that the Board be satisfied that at least one member of the Committee has recent and relevant financial experience. The Board has 
considered this requirement and, taking into account the financial background of the Chairman of the Committee, is satisfied that this 
requirement has been met and that the Committee has sufficient experience to fulfil its obligations in an effective manner.  

Responsibilities 
The Committee is required to satisfy itself as to the adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls and compliance procedures 
within the Group and that the principles, policies and practices adopted in the preparation of the accounts of the Group and the 
annual financial statements comply with statutory requirements. The Audit Committee has written terms of reference which are 
available to be viewed at the AGM, and are available at www.imgtec.com.  

In discharging its responsibilities, the Committee reviews the interim and annual financial statements and the terms and scope under 
which the external auditors are appointed or reappointed. The Committee also reviews and monitors the external auditor’s 
independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process, taking into consideration relevant UK professional and 
regulatory requirements. The Committee holds meetings with the external auditors whenever it feels it needs advice or clarification of 
issues, but in any case the Audit Committee meets formally with the external auditors at least once per year with, if required, a 
portion of the meeting without the Executive Directors present. The Committee is also responsible for determining and reviewing the 
policy for engaging the external auditor in respect of non-audit work. 

The Audit Committee reviews arrangements by which staff of the Group may in confidence raise concerns over possible improprieties 
in financial reporting or other matters.
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Remuneration Committee 
A description of the composition, responsibility and operation of the Remuneration Committee is set out in the Remuneration Report 
on pages 43 to 47 which is prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006. 

Board and Committee Meeting Attendance 
The attendance of Directors at Board meetings and Committee meetings is set out below: 

  Main Board  Audit Remuneration 
  Meetings Committee Committee 
No. of meetings 9   3 5 

G S Shingles 9   1*  3* 
H Yassaie 9   –  3* 
T Selby 9   3*  3* 
I R Pearson 7  2 5 
D A Hurst-Brown 9  3 5 
D Anderson 6  2 2 
 
* Denotes attendance by a Director, who is not a member of the Committee, at a Committee meeting, as requested by the Chairman 
of the Committee. 

Independent Professional Advisers 
The Directors are able to bring necessary matters to the attention of the Board so that the appropriate professional advisers can be 
briefed and authorized to provide the required independent advice. However, all Directors can, if they feel it necessary, take 
independent professional advice in furtherance of their duties, at the Company’s expense. 

Share Capital 
The share capital details are provided in the Directors’ Report on page 35. 

Financial Reporting 
The financial position of the Group is discussed in the Chairman’s Statement, Chief Executive’s Review and the Directors’ Report, 
giving a balanced and understandable assessment of the Company’s position and prospects. 

After reviewing current performance and plans, and making enquiries considered appropriate, the Directors are satisfied that at the 
time of approving the Financial Statements adequate resources are available to the Group to enable it to continue in business for the 
foreseeable future. For this reason the Directors believe it is appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial 
statements. 

Relations with Shareholders  
The Company actively encourages open communications with shareholders. Principally through the Board, the Company endeavours 
to establish and maintain healthy relationships with its institutional shareholders by holding regular meetings after results with further 
dialogue as requested. Shareholders can register to receive the Company’s press releases via the internet and any queries from 
individual shareholders are answered promptly by a nominated person.  

The Company is involved in a weekly dialogue with private shareholders, the comments and concerns from these shareholders who 
participate in this forum are circulated to management within the Company at the end of each week.   

The Company gives shareholders 21 days notice of the AGM. At the AGM, the Directors make a full presentation to shareholders to 
explain recent and future developments in the business, followed by an open question and answer session which provides 
shareholders with the opportunity to ask Directors and senior employees questions about the business. The Company prepares 
separate resolutions on each substantially separate issue and a schedule of proxy votes cast is made available for inspection at the 
conclusion of proceedings. The AGM is held at the Company’s headquarters in Kings Langley where shareholders can visit 
demonstration rooms displaying the Group’s technology in Company or partners’ products and PURE products with senior divisional 
employees available to give in-depth detail of the Company’s technologies and products. The Board makes itself accessible to meet 
with shareholders on an informal basis. 

The Non-Executive Directors have access to independent feedback from shareholders after results presentations which, supported by 
periodic attendance at analyst and shareholder presentations, provides them with an understanding of the views of major 
shareholders. The Senior Non-Executive Director is available for dialogue with major shareholders if required. 

Consulting with Employees  
The Company understands and appreciates the importance of effective communication with its employees worldwide. Where there 
are matters arising in the Company which could impact staff there is an appropriate consultation process. This is mainly achieved 
through monthly divisional meetings where employee-related items are initially discussed. Divisional Vice-Presidents and/or General 
Manager will in turn consult their employees and feedback any constructive responses before the Company proceeds in making 
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decisions.  The Company is re-developing its Headquarters in Kings Langley to have a state of the art building providing substantial 
improvement in our working environment for our employees and the Company will continue to have a dialogue with employees to 
ensure their views and observations are taken into consideration in the re-development process. 

Corporate Social Responsibility  
The Company recognizes that it has responsibilities to all stakeholders which include the interests of employees and their families; 
the need to foster the Company’s business relationships with partners, customers, suppliers, and others; the impact of the 
Company’s operations on the local community and the surrounding environment where it operates. Employees are highly regarded 
and valued, and their employment and other rights are respected. The Group is committed to the important principle of equal 
opportunity which is reflected in the Company’s recruitment, disciplinary and grievance policies. The Company is dedicated to 
supplying products of top quality to meet its customers’ requirements in a manner that is consistent with high environmental and 
ethical standards. The Company makes contributions to local charities and communities in the areas which it operates its business. 

Environmental Statement 
The Board understands and recognizes the increasing importance of environmental issues, although it has limited direct impact on 
the environment since it is not involved in heavy industry or any direct manufacturing activity. Company premises are offices, with the 
main activity in the Group being the development of hardware and software designs by employees working on computers, involving 
neither the use of hazardous substances or complex waste emissions. 

The Group continues its promotion and support of practices for the use of resources in an environmentally friendly manner. The 
Group has energy saving measures in place for recycling components, such as printed circuit boards, toner cartridges, surplus 
packaging and paper. The Group discourages Company vehicles with only a small number of vehicles throughout the Group.  

PURE’s commitment to ethical and environmentally sustainable manufacture is encapsulated within EcoPlus 
(www.pure.com/ecoplus), which remains at the heart of all PURE’s design, manufacturing and logistics decision-making. PURE has 
worked throughout 2011 to reduce the power consumption of all of its radio products, and has made particular strides with reduction 
in the power of internet radio with the introduction of ONE Flow – the first internet radio to meet the stringent requirements of the 
EST specification for digital radio. In total, PURE now has fifteen EST accredited radios, with more to come. During the peak trading 
period of 2010, PURE’s “Make a Difference” trade and consumer campaign promoted the sale of these EST recommended radios.  

PURE have met their obligations under the EC Directive on Batteries and Accumulators and Waste Batteries and Accumulators 
(2006/66/EC) through their membership of the compliance scheme eBatt. 

With respect to the Group’s sub-contract manufacturing activities, all facilities are regularly SEDEX audited to ensure that good 
employment standards and practices are in place, and the Company has taken the necessary action to comply with the provisions of 
the Use of Certain Hazardous Substances in Electrical Equipment Regulations 2005 (RoHS) and Waste Electrical and Electronic 
Equipment (WEEE). The Company is a member of the compliance scheme REPIC to meet our obligations as a producer of WEEE and 
are members of the Distributor Takeback Scheme run by Valpak to meet our obligations as direct sellers. The Company complies with 
EC Regulation on chemicals and their safe use (EC 1907/2006), known as Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation and Restriction of 
Chemical substances (REACH). The Company also complies with The Energy Using Products Directive (EuP) 2005/32/EC which sets 
out the minimum requirements for eco-design for energy using products.  

The Group continues to provide information to shareholders electronically and make documents available through the website rather 
than via paper copies. The Group can report that with support from shareholders less than 1% of shareholders now receive paper 
copies, thereby providing significant environmental and cost benefits. The Group has a Ride 2 Work scheme for employees which 
gives benefits to the environment.   

Graduate Recruitment Programme 
The Group runs a Graduate Recruitment Programme (GRP) with universities and colleges throughout the UK having developed strong 
relationships with a number of universities including the University of Southampton, Imperial College of London and the University of 
Bristol. As a direct result of our GRP we have had 20 undergraduates on internship during the year. In 2011/12 we have a much higher 
target for the GRP and will continue to expand the number of universities and colleges who can participate with placements and/or 
internship, as well as graduate recruitment. We have linked up with universities which reflect our technical skillset and are supporting 
and developing these into centres of excellence for students in line with our intellectual property activities around the Company.  

In 2011 the Company sponsored the EPSRC UK ICT Pioneers Event which was open to all second and third year PhD students in the 
UK. The Event was created to showcase and reward research with exploitation potential in the UK with five cash prizes of £2,000 
available. The Company is increasingly working closer with funding bodies such as EPSRC to support and contribute to research in 
the UK.  
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Scholarships, Sponsorships and Apprenticeships 
The Group offers a wide range of other incentives to young people varying from the sponsorship of electronic courses at local 
schools; giving scholarship awards to students at University to promote career opportunities at our Company and financial awards to 
successful internships with the intention that the students come to work for the Group in the future. The Company continues to run 
an apprenticeship programme for 16 year olds, and also invites 10-15 young people annually for structured work experience to learn 
more about and experience some of the careers available in our sector.  

Conflicts of Interest 
The Company has put in place procedures for the disclosure and review of any conflicts or potential conflicts of interest which the 
Directors may have and for the authorization of such conflict matters by the Board. In deciding whether to authorize a conflict, or 
potential conflict, the Directors have regard to their general duties under the Companies Act 2006. The authorization of any conflict 
matter, and the terms of authorization, may be reviewed at any time and are reviewed formally by the Group on an annual basis. There 
have been no conflicts of interest in the year. 

Health and Safety  
The Group takes the health and safety of its employees, business partners, contractors and any visitors to Group premises seriously. 
During the year the Group has continued working with its insurance broker, Henderson Risk Management in health and safety 
matters. The Group has a health and safety committee and it held meetings at all three UK sites to consider health and safety issues. 
The Committee reviews new relevant and appropriate legislation and regulations governing the workplace and responds to feedback 
from employees on any particular items in their division or building. The Company Secretary is Chairman of the Committee which 
meets on a quarterly basis.  

Internal Controls/Risk Management 
The Board has overall responsibility for ensuring that the system of internal control is effective. This covers all material controls 
including financial, operational, compliance and risk management systems. This system is intended to manage rather than eliminate 
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and provides only reasonable and not absolute assurances against material 
misstatement or loss. 

The Directors reviewed the existing risk management processes within the operating businesses to document and report on 
significant areas of business risks and their controls and that the process accords with the Turnbull Guidance. There is an ongoing 
process for the effective identification, evaluation and management of significant risks faced by the Group. 

This process was in place throughout the year and as at the date of approval of the Annual Report and Financial Statements. Under 
this process the Board receives a detailed report outlining all the main risks associated with both the Technology and PURE 
businesses and the report is reviewed thoroughly to consider if any necessary action is required to address these risks. If the Board 
concludes that action is required, it is given regular updates on progress and is also made aware of any new risks that are identified 
as an on-going process continues throughout each year.  

Executive members of the Board have day to day involvement in all aspects of the business and attend monthly management 
meetings at which both financial and operational performance against targets are reviewed. Any items found during the monthly 
review which do not meet previously agreed targets are discussed in order to ensure that any corrective actions are implemented.  

A comprehensive budget is presented for the forthcoming year and approved by the Board. Expenditure is controlled against  
formal authorization limits. Major items of capital and revenue expenditure and all treasury matters are reserved for members of the 
Board alone. 

The Board and the Audit Committee have considered the need for an Internal Auditor, and, after taking into account the size of the 
organization, have concluded that at this stage there is no requirement.  

Compliance Statement  
The Listing Rules require the Board to report on compliance with the provisions of the Code throughout the accounting period. Save 
the exceptions listed below, the Company has complied throughout the current accounting year ended 30 April 2011 with the 
provisions set out in Section 1 of the Code. 

As the Board is small, a Nominations Committee has not been appointed consisting solely of Non Executive Directors. All 
nominations to the Board will be considered by the full Board. The Board are aware that both Ian Pearson and David Hurst-Brown 
have been Non-Executive Directors for more than nine years and that, in accordance with the Code, they will be submitting 
themselves for re-election at the Annual General Meeting. The Board has carefully considered their roles in the Company and believes 
that they are Independent Directors. The Board have appointed a new Non-Executive Director during the year and continue the search 
to appoint another Non-Executive Director in the forthcoming financial year.
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Remuneration Report  
 

Remuneration Committee 
The Remuneration Committee (‘Committee’) advises and makes recommendations to the Board on an appropriate remuneration 
policy within the agreed terms of reference which are available on the Company’s website at www.imgtec.com. During the year the 
members of the Committee have been the Chairman, Ian Pearson, David Hurst-Brown and David Anderson.  

The Committee is responsible for determining and agreeing with the Board the remuneration packages of each of the Executive 
Directors. This includes basic salary, annual bonus, level of awards under the Group’s share incentive arrangements (‘Awards’)  
and the terms of any performance conditions to apply to the exercise of such rights, pension rights, determining their terms and 
conditions of service, and any compensation payments and to ensure that such remuneration levels are appropriate and acceptable.  

Olswang provided legal services in relation to share incentive plans, Matthew Arnold Baldwin provided general employment advice 
and the Company’s Independent Financial Advisor, JLT (formerly HACL) advised on pension matters. The Committee also obtained a 
number of independently published remuneration surveys to assist in setting the overall packages of senior management and was 
recently advised by Towers Watson on competitive remuneration data.   

The remuneration of Ian Pearson, David Hurst-Brown and David Anderson is established by the Executive Directors of the Board.  
The Committee also has discussions with the Board in relation to the Board’s annual report to shareholders on the Group’s policy on 
the remuneration of Executive Directors and in particular the Directors’ Remuneration Report, as required by the Companies Act 2006, 
the Code and the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority. No Board member is involved in deciding his own remuneration 
package.  

Remuneration Policy 
The Committee has given full consideration to the Principles of Good Governance as set out in the Code with reference to Directors’ 
remuneration. The main objectives of the policy are to ensure that pay and benefits packages are sufficiently competitive to attract, 
develop and retain high calibre executives. The Committee will continue in the future to ensure that a competitive and well-balanced 
package is maintained. It also seeks to align individual reward and incentives with the performance of the Group and, hence, with the 
interests of the shareholders. When carrying out its role the Committee will consider corporate performance on environmental, social 
and corporate governance issues. In determining Directors’ remuneration for the year the Committee took into consideration the pay 
and conditions of employees of the Group. 

Directors’ Remuneration 
The main elements of the Executive Directors remuneration are:  

Basic salary 
To review and determine the specific levels of basic salary, the Committee draws on a wide range of relevant data, market conditions, 
as well as Group and individual performance.  

Share incentives 
The Committee aims to ensure that Executives and senior employees are fairly rewarded for their contribution to the success of the 
Group. The Group is currently operating an Employee Share Plan (ESP) and a Save As You Earn (‘SAYE’) plan, both of which were 
approved by shareholders at the AGM in 2006. The Committee continues to believe that appropriate share incentives provide the best 
form of long term incentive needed to motivate and retain employees and to encourage employee share ownership. At the AGM in 
2009, the Company made changes to the ESP to enable it to make ESP awards that are more tax-efficient and also to make share 
option grants under a Company Share Option Plan in order to give it increased flexibility in the type of share incentives it may award 
to Group employees. There are a number of share options outstanding under the Group’s old schemes, including approved and 
unapproved key employee schemes, an Enterprise Management Incentive (EMI) scheme and a Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) 
scheme.  

The discretionary Awards under the ESP have performance criteria. The awards under the ESP in 2008 are related to the share price 
relative to the increase in the FTSE All Share Index and growth in gross profit over a three year period. The awards under the ESP in 
2009 have a performance condition related to the growth in the Group’s share price over a three year period. 

In December 2009 the Chief Executive Officer was awarded a specific share award which the Board believed was necessary for 
retention and to provide appropriate motivation. This award is over a five year period. The Group consulted major shareholders before 
making this award. This share award, made under the provisions of the Listing Rules 9.4.2.2, is for 2,250,000 shares and, subject to 
the performance conditions (see page 46), will vest in three tranches; 750,000 shares after three years, 750,000 after four years and 
750,000 after five years.  

The discretionary options that were all granted before the adoption of the Employee Share Plan have performance criteria based on 
the achievement of targets in the market price of Imagination Technologies Group plc shares, and those options issued to Directors 
have the performance conditions attached to them as set out on page 46. The SAYE scheme does not have performance conditions. 
Discretionary options were granted at market value with SAYE options issued at a 20% discount to market value. 
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Cash bonus 
The Group has an annual cash bonus plan for key Executives. Awards under the annual bonus plan are split into two portions, a 
portion that is discretionary based on performance and a portion that relates to the achievement of budgeted profit. No payments 
were made under the annual bonus plan in the year.  

Pension policy 
The Group does not run its own pension scheme and Executive Directors are eligible to become members of the Group Personal 
Pension Plan, which is a defined contribution scheme. There are no special arrangements for Executive Directors and the same 
employer contribution of 7.5% of executive basic salary applies. A Pension Salary Sacrifice scheme is in place for all members of the 
pension scheme, including Executive Directors and this has impacted the amounts stated in Directors’ Emoluments on page 45.  

Service contracts 
The Executive Directors have ongoing service contracts all dated 31 March 1998 which may be terminated by either party on six 
months notice. The Committee regards the notice period in these contracts as being appropriate. In the event of termination of an 
Executive Director’s service contract there are no specific compensation entitlement provisions in the contracts with respect to 
termination, other than the notice period.  

Remuneration policy for Non-Executive Directors 
The Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration consists of fees for their services in connection with Board and Committee meetings and 
where appropriate for devoting additional time and expertise for the benefit of the Company. Non-Executive Directors have letters of 
appointment. Ian Pearson’s, David Hurst-Brown’s and David Anderson’s letters are dated respectively 14 April 1998, 4 August 2000 
and 25 November 2010. Each Non-Executive Director will be re-elected annually to comply with the provisions of the UK Corporate 
Governance Code 2010, in regard to Ian Pearson and David Hurst-Brown they will seek re-election at this year’s AGM since they have 
been Non-Executive Directors for more than nine years and under the Combined Code a Non-Executive Director is required to be re-
elected annually if he has served the board for more than nine years.  

Non-Executive Directors are not eligible for pension scheme membership and do not participate in any of the Group’s annual cash 
bonus or other share incentive schemes. The remuneration of Non-Executive Directors is determined by the Executive Directors of 
the Board and no element of their fees is performance-related. 

Other directorships 
Any other directorships of the Non-Executive Directors are set out on pages 31 to 32 with the directorships of Geoff Shingles, who 
carries out his executive duties with the Group on a part time basis. The Board is satisfied that these directorships do not interfere 
with the performance of Directors’ duties for the Company. 

Total shareholders’ return 

 
In the total shareholder return analysis the TechMark All-Share Index has been chosen to compare the performance of the Company’s 
share price against an index of comparable companies. 
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The following information has been audited: 

Directors’ Emoluments 
The following table is intended to bring together the value of the various emoluments of remuneration received by each Director 
during the year. 

  Salary   Benefits Total Total Pension Pension 
  and fees Bonus in kind 2011 2010 2011 2010 
  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Executive Directors 
 G S Shingles 90 – 2 92 86 – – 

 H Yassaie 300 – 1 301 395 36 29 

 T Selby 103 – 1 104 100 133 131 

 
Non-Executive Directors 
 I R Pearson 30 – – 30 27 – – 
 D A Hurst-Brown 30 – – 30 27 – – 
 D Anderson 10 – – 10 – – – 

Total 563 – 4 567 635 169 160 
 

Both Hossein Yassaie and Trevor Selby participate in the Company’s Pension Salary Sacrifice Scheme which is offered to all 
employees. 

Directors’ Share Incentives 

The following table sets out the share-related incentives the Directors have in the shares of Imagination Technologies Group plc. 

 
  Balance at  Lapsed Exercised Granted Balance at  Date from  
  1 May  during the during the  during the  30 April Exercise  which first  
 Grant Date 2010 year year year 2011 Price exercisable Expiry date 

G S Shingles **Sep-2008 8,115 – – – 8,115 55.6p Nov-2011 May-2012 
 ***Oct-2008 131,250 – – - 131,250 – Oct-2011 – 
 **Oct-2009 2,298 – – -  2,298 139p Oct-2012 Apr-2013 
 **Oct 2010 - - - 495 495 305.2p Oct 2013 Apr-2014 
     
H Yassaie *Aug-2001 1,000,000 (500,000) (500,000) – – 64p Aug-2003 Aug-2011 
 ***July-2007 1,209 – (1,209) – – – Feb 2010 July-2010 
 **Sep-2008 8,115 – – – 8,115 55.6p Nov-2011 May-2012 
 ***Oct-2008 1,029,000 – – – 1,029,000 – Oct-2011 – 
 **Oct-2009 2,298 – –  2,298 139p Oct-2012 Apr-2013
 ****Dec-2009  2,250,000 – –  2,250,000 – Oct-2012 – 
 **Oct 2010 - - - 495 495 305.2p Oct 2013 Apr-2014  
 
T Selby *Aug-2001 150,000 (150,000) - – – 64p Aug-2003 Aug-2011 
 ***July-2007 1,209 – (1,209) – – – Feb 2010 July-2010 
 **Sep-2008 8,115 – – – 8,115 55.6p Nov-2011 May-2012 
 ***Oct-2008 210,550 – – – 210,550 – Oct-2011 – 
 **Oct-2009 2,298 – –  2,298 139p Oct-2012 Apr-2013 
 ***Oct-2009 100,000 – –  100,000 – Oct-2012 – 

Total  4,904,457 (650,000) (502,418) 990 3,753,029    
 

As at 22 June 2011 there had been no changes in the balance of share options or share awards outstanding. 

* Options issued under the Long Term Incentive Plan. Although these options will not lapse until August 2011, the performance 
criteria cannot be met by this date, and as such have been treated as lapsed. 

** Options issued under the Savings Related Share Option Scheme (SAYE). 

*** Awards made under the Employee Share Plan (ESP).  

**** Performance Share Awards (PSA) made to CEO. 

The mid-closing price of the shares on 30 April 2011 was 500p and the range during the financial period was 500p to 220.7p. 
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Executive Directors – Share option and share awards performance conditions: 

A.  LTIP share options are exercisable if the share price growth is at least greater than an annual compound increase of 15% per 
annum in the share price over the four year period following the date of grant and there has been an improvement in the 
underlying financial performance of the Company in the opinion of the Remuneration Committee. 

B.  ESP awards for 2007 have two performance conditions: 

1.  Group share price. The first 50% of the Award was subject to the performance of Group shares. It was dependent on the 
percentage growth in the value of a share in the Group compared to the percentage growth of the FTSE All Share Index over the 
three year period commencing on the date of grant of the Award. If the performance of a share in the Group against the Index was 
150% then all 50% of the Award would vest, if the performance of a share in the Group against the Index was between 125% and 
150% of the Index then pro-rata on a straight line basis between 25% and 50% would vest, and if the performance of a share in 
the Group against the Index was below 125% of the Index then there is no Award; and  

2.  Royalty Income. The second 50% of the Award was calculated by reference to the royalty income generated by the Group. 25% of 
the Award would vest if the average annual increase in royalty income over the three year period commencing on 1st April 2006 
(the ‘Performance Period’) exceeded 30%. 50% of the Award would vest if the average annual increase in royalty income over the 
Performance Period equalled or exceeded 50%. The Award would vest pro-rata on a straight-line basis between 25% and 50% for 
average annual growth in royalty income between 30% and 50%. There would be no vesting in respect of this part of the Award if 
the average annual increase in royalty income was less than 30%. 

C. ESP awards for 2008 have two performance conditions: 

1. The first 50% is the same as the ESPs for 2007 regarding Group share price; and  

2. Gross Profit. The second 50% of the Award is calculated by reference to gross profit. Vesting is calculated by reference to the 
gross profit generated by the Group as derived from the Company’s audited report and accounts prepared on a consolidated basis 
("Gross Profit"). The Gross Profit will be measured over the three financial periods commencing 1 May 2008 (the "Performance 
Period"). The growth in Gross Profit will be measured for each financial period against the previous financial period and then 
averaged at the end of the Performance Period. In the case of the first financial period in the Performance Period, the Gross Profit 
for that year will be compared to the Gross Profit for the period to 30 April 2008. The following shows the vesting of the share 
awards; If the average growth in Gross Profit over the performance period is 15% then 40% of the share award will vest, if the 
average growth in Gross Profit over the performance period is 19% then 70% of the share award will vest and if the average 
growth in Gross Profit over the performance period is 23% or more then 100% of the share award will vest.  

D. ESP awards for 2009 have one performance condition which is the annual cumulative growth in the Group’s share price over a 
three year period from the date of grant. If the annual cumulative growth of the Group’s share price is less than 7.5%, no part of 
the award will vest. If the annual cumulative growth of the Group’s share price is more than 7.5% and less than 15% the 
performance target will be satisfied pro-rata on a straight line basis and if the annual cumulative growth of the Group’s share price 
is 15% or more, all 100% will vest. 

E. Performance Share Award for the CEO award for 2009 has one performance condition related to the annual cumulative growth in 
the Group’s share price over a three, four and five year period from the date of grant. If the annual cumulative growth of the 
Group’s share price is less than 7.5%, no part of the award will vest, if the annual cumulative growth of the Group’s share price is 
more than 7.5% and less than 15% the performance target will be satisfied pro-rata on a straight line basis and if the annual 
cumulative growth of the Company’s share price is 15% or more, all 100% will vest.   

F. SAYE share options do not have any performance conditions. 

Directors’ Share Dealings – Employee share incentive schemes 
The following Directors’ dealings took place during the year.  

Under the Long-Term Incentive Plan  

Hossein Yassaie exercised 500,000 shares options (granted at £0.64 in August 2003) on 18 August 2010 at market price of £3.41.  
He retained 86,130 shares.  

Under the Employee Share Plan (2007) 

Hossein Yassaie - 1,209 shares vested on 7 July 2010 at the market price of £2.75, he sold these shares. 

Trevor Selby - 1,209 shares vested on 7 July 2010 at the market price of £2.75, he sold these shares. 
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Directors’ Interests 
Interests of the Directors in the shares of Imagination Technologies Group plc were as follows: 

 

Ordinary shares of 10p beneficially owned at 30 April 2011 2010 

G S Shingles 141,133 164,133 

H Yassaie 573,832 487,702 

T Selby 109,702 133,702 

I R Pearson 35,122 35,122 

D A Hurst-Brown 70,000 70,000 

D Anderson 3,775 – 

 
As at 22 June 2011 there had been no changes in the above interests.  

 

This report was approved by the Board on 22 June 2011 and was signed on its behalf by: 

 

 

 

 

 

I R Pearson 

Chairman of the Remuneration Committee 
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members 
of Imagination Technologies Group plc 
 
We have audited the financial statements of Imagination Technologies Group plc for the year ended 30 April 2011 set out on pages  
49 to 81. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the Group financial statements is applicable 
law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU. The financial reporting framework that has been 
applied in the preparation of the Parent Company financial statements is applicable law and UK Accounting Standards (UK Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice). 

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 
2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required to state 
to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the 
opinions we have formed. 

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors   
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement set out on page 36, the Directors are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit, and 
express an opinion on, the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and 
Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s (APB’s) Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

Scope of the audit of the financial statements 
A description of the scope of an audit of financial statements is provided on the APB’s web-site at www.frc.org.uk/apb/scope/private.cfm. 

Opinion on financial statements 
In our opinion: 

•  the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the Parent Company’s affairs as at 30 April 2011 
and of the Group’s profit for the year then ended; 

•  the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU; 

•  the Parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; 

•  the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006; and, as regards the 
Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. 

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 
In our opinion: 

•  the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006; and 

•  the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent 
with the financial statements. 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following: 

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion: 

•  adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received 
from branches not visited by us; or 

•  the Parent Company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are not in agreement 
with the accounting records and returns; or 

•  certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or 

•  we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review: 

•  the Directors’ statement, set out on page 35, in relation to going concern; 

•  the part of the Corporate Governance Statement on pages 38 to 42 relating to the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions 
of the June 2008 Combined Code specified for our review; and 

•  certain elements of the report to shareholders by the Board on Directors’ remuneration. 

 
Tudor Aw (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
for and on behalf of KPMG Audit Plc, Statutory Auditor 
Chartered Accountants 
15 Canada Square, London E14 5GL 

22 June 2011
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Consolidated Income Statement  
   Year to   Year to 
   30 April 2011  30 April 2010 
  Notes £’000  £’000 

Revenue 1, 2 98,045  80,927 
 
Cost of sales  (20,791)  (25,004) 

 

Gross profit  77,254  55,923 
 
Research and development expenses  (44,696)  (35,370) 

Sales and administrative expenses  (16,298)  (10,562) 

Gain on investments     –  148 
 
Total operating expenses  (60,994)  (45,784) 
 

Operating profit  16,260 10,139 
 
Financial income 5  158 64 
Financial expenses 6 (58) (12) 

Net financing income  100 52 
  
Profit before tax  16,360 10,191 
 
Taxation credit 7 2,918  4,016 

Profit for the financial year attributable to equity holders of the parent  19,278 14,207 
 
 
Earnings per share  Basic    8 7.7p 6.0p 
  Diluted   7.4p 5.6p 
 
 

During this year and the previous period all results arise from continuing operations. 

 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 
Income  
   Year to  Year to 
   30 April 2011 30 April 2010 
  Notes £’000 £’000 

Profit for the financial year attributable to equity holders of the parent  19,278 14,207 
 
Other comprehensive income: 
 
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 112 (13) 
Change in fair value of assets classified as available for sale 11 (300)  20 
Change in fair value of assets classified as available for sale 
transferred to profit and loss     – (2,992) 
Deferred tax on available for sale investment              – 757 

Total other comprehensive income for the financial year, net of income tax (188) (2,228) 
 

Total comprehensive income for the financial year attributable to  
equity holders of the parent 19,090 11,979 
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position  
 
  As at 30 April As at 30 April 
  2011 2010 
 Notes £’000 £’000 

Non-current assets 
Intangible assets 9 45,088 5,126 
Property, plant and equipment 10 15,723 4,650 
Investments 11 5,717 4,550 
Other receivables 13 – 795 
Deferred tax 7 24,868 11,018 

  91,396 26,139 
Current assets 
Inventories 12 6,205 4,972 
Trade and other receivables  13 27,574 20,668 
Cash and cash equivalents 14 49,374 29,367 

  83,153 55,007 
 
Total assets  174,549 81,146 

 
Current liabilities 
Trade and other payables   15 (17,626) (11,929) 
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 16  (60) (58) 

  (17,686) (11,987) 
 
Non-current liabilities 
Other payables 17 (3,927) – 
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 16 (5,527) (373) 
Deferred tax liability 7 (4,339) – 
  (13,793) (373) 
 
Total liabilities  (31,479) (12,360) 

Net assets  143,070 68,786 

 
Equity 
Called up share capital 18 25,815 24,345 
Share premium account  18 97,300 60,629 
Other capital reserve 18 1,423 1,423 
Merger reserve  18 2,402 2,402 
Revaluation reserve 18 (280) 20 
Translation reserve 18 233  121 
Retained earnings  18 16,177 (20,154) 

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent  143,070 68,786 

 
These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 22 June 2011 and were signed on its behalf by: 

 

 
 
G S Shingles 
Director 
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
 
 Share Share Other capital Warrant Merger Revaluation Translation Earnings Retained 
 capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve  Total 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

As at 1 May 2009 22,839 53,435 597 826 2,402 2,235 134 (36,870) 45,598 

Profit for the year  – – – – – – – 14,207 14,207 

Other comprehensive income 
for the year:           

Exchange differences on translation     – –    –     –       –          –    (13)       –        (13) 
Of foreign operations 
Change in fair value of assets – –    –     –       – (2,215)    –       –        (2,215) 
classified as available for sale 
Total other comprehensive income –  – – – – (2,215) (13) – (2,228) 
for the year 

Transactions with owners: 

Share based remuneration             – –    –     –       –          –    –       3,176          3,176 

Acquisition of own shares for – – – – – – – (667) (667) 
Employee Benefit Trust 
 
Exercise of warrants – – 826 (826) – – – – – 

Issue of new shares 1,506 7,194 – – – – – – 8,700 

At 30 April 2010 24,345 60,629 1,423 – 2,402 20 121 (20,154) 68,786 

 
As at 1 May 2010 24,345 60,629 1,423 – 2,402 20 121 (20,154) 68,786 

Profit for the year  – – – – – – – 19,278 19,278 

Other comprehensive income               
for the year: 

Exchange differences on translation – – – – – – 112 – 112 
of foreign operations     
Change in fair value of assets – – – – – (300) – – (300) 
classified as available for sale 
Total other comprehensive income –  – – – – (300) 112 – (188) 
for the year 

Transactions with owners: 
Share based remuneration – – – – – – – 5,951 5,951 

Deferred tax credit in respect 
of share-based incentives – – – – – – – 11,183 11,183 
Acquisition of own shares for – – – – – – – (81) (81) 
Employee Benefit Trust                     

Issue of new shares 1,470 36,671 – – – – – – 38,141 

At 30 April 2011 25,815 97,300 1,423 – 2,402 (280) 233 16,177 143,070 
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows  
 

  Year to  Year to 

  30 April 2011 30 April 2010 

 Note £’000 £’000 

Cash flows from operating activities 

Profit after tax  19,278 14,207 

Tax credit   (2,918) (4,016) 

Profit before tax  16,360 10,191 

 

Adjustments for: 

Depreciation and amortisation  3,227 1,960 

Net financing income  (100) (52) 

Share-based remuneration   5,951 3,176 

Gain on investments  – (148) 

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  – 2 

Exchange difference  (356) – 

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital  25,082 15,129 
 
Increase in inventories  (1,233) (1,249) 
Increase in receivables   (6,825) (5,971) 
Increase in payables  2,187 1,525 

Cash generated by operations  19,211 9,434 
 
Interest paid  (58) (12) 
Taxes paid  (61) (861) 

Net cash flows from operating activities  19,092 8,561 
 
Cash flows from investing activities 
Interest received  146 63 
Acquisition of intangible assets  (1,150) (677) 
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment  (12,325) (1,036) 
Acquisition of investments  (301) – 
Acquisition of subsidiaries  (27,978) – 

Net cash used in investing activities  (41,608) (1,650) 
 
Cash flows from financing activities   

Proceeds from the issue of share capital  38,052 8,033 
Repayment of borrowings  (59) (57) 
Proceeds from loan  5,215 – 

Net cash from financing activities  43,208 7,976 
 
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  20,692 14,887 
Effect of exchange rate fluctuation  (685) (94) 
 

Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the period  29,367 14,574 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 14 49,374 29,367 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements  
  

1 Accounting Policies 
General 
Imagination Technologies Group plc is a company incorporated in the UK. 

The Group financial statements consolidate those of the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the Group).  

Significant accounting policies 
Statement of compliance 
The Group financial statements have been prepared and approved by the Directors in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU (Adopted IFRSs). The Company has elected to prepare its Parent Company financial 
statements in accordance with UK GAAP; these are presented on pages 78 to 81. 

Basis of preparation 
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated financial 
statements.  

The following new standards and amendments to standards as adopted by the European Union at 30 April 2011 are mandatory for the 
first time for the financial year beginning 1 May 2010: 

• Amendment to IFRS 2 ‘Share based payments – group cash-settled share-based payment transactions’        

• IFRS 3 (revised) ‘Business combinations’        

• IAS 27 (revised) ‘Consolidated and separate financial statements’       

• Improvements to IFRSs (April 2009)      

• Amendment to IAS 39 ‘Financial instruments: recognition and measurement’ on eligible hedged items       

IFRS 3 now requires that acquisition expenses are charged to the Group income statement (note 25) and that adjustments to 
contingent consideration are recognized in the Group income statement. With this exception, these accounting standards, 
amendments and interpretations have had no material effect on the results or financial position of the Group disclosed within these 
financial statements. 

Judgements made by the Directors in the application of these accounting policies that have significant effect on the financial 
statements and estimates with a significant risk of material adjustment in the next year are discussed below under ‘Significant 
accounting judgements and estimates’. 

Measurement convention 
The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except that the trade investments have been stated at fair value in 
accordance with IAS 39. 

Going concern  
After making enquiries, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company and the Group have adequate resources to 
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing 
the Annual Report and Financial Statements. 

The Group has adequate financial resources together with long term contracts with a number of customers and suppliers across a 
range of consumer market segments and geographic areas. As a consequence, the Directors believe that the Group is well placed to 
manage its business risks successfully despite the current uncertain economic outlook.  

Further information regarding the Group’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, 
performance and position is set out in the Chief Executive’s Review on pages 3 to 9. 

Further information regarding the financial position of the Group, its cash flows, liquidity position and borrowing facilities are 
described in notes 14 and 16. 

In addition, note 21 to the financial statements includes: the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for managing its capital; its 
financial risk management objectives; details of its financial instruments and hedging activities; and its exposures to credit risk and 
liquidity risk. 

Basis of consolidation 
Subsidiaries 
Subsidiaries are those entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern 
the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights 
that presently are exercisable or convertible are taken into account. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the 
consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. 
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Business Combinations 
The Group has applied IFRS 3 Business Combinations (revised 2008) in accounting for business combinations.  

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method at the acquisition date, which is the date on which control is 
transferred to the Group. Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefit from 
its activities. In assessing control, the Group takes into consideration potential voting rights that currently are exercisable. The 
financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control passes. 

The Group measures goodwill as the fair value of the consideration paid or payable less the net fair value of the identifiable assets, 
liabilities assumed and contingent liabilities acquired, all measured as of the acquisition date.  

The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing relationships. Such amounts are 
generally recognized in the income statement. Costs related to the acquisition, other than those associated with the issue of equity 
securities, that the Group incurs in connection with a business combination are expensed as incurred.  

See note 25 for the application of the policy to the business combinations that occurred during the period. 

Any contingent consideration payable is recognized at fair value at the acquisition date. If the contingent consideration is classified as 
equity, it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, subsequent changes to the fair value of the 
contingent consideration are recognized in the income statement. 

When share-based payment awards (replacement awards) are required to be exchanged for awards held by the acquiree’s employees 
(acquiree’s awards) and relate to past services, then all or a portion of the amount of the acquirer's replacement awards is included in 
measuring the consideration transferred in the business combination. The determination is based on the market-based value of the 
replacement awards compared with the market-based value of the acquiree's awards and the extent to which the replacement awards 
relate to past and/or future services. 

Revenue 
Revenue comprises: 

1  the value of consideration received in return for license fees, development income, maintenance and royalties from license and 
development agreements; 

2  revenues from the sale of products and services to support technology licensees; and 

3  revenues from the sale of systems products utilising the Group’s technology to third parties. 

Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow into  
the Group. 

Revenue from licences is recognized on delivery to the customer. Revenue on license agreements for products which are either not 
finished or which need to be modified to meet specific customer requirements is recognized on a percentage-to-completion basis 
over the period from starting development of the product to delivery. The percentage-to-completion is measured by monitoring 
progress compared with the total estimated project requirement. Progress is measured by an assessment of performance against key 
development milestones. 

Revenue associated with rights in license agreements to unspecified current and future products is recognized on a straight-line basis 
over the term of the arrangement. 

Revenue on development work is recognized on a percentage-to-completion basis over the period from the start of the development 
to delivery. Development work is normally invoiced as milestones are achieved. 

Where invoicing milestones on licence or development arrangements are such that the proportion of work performed is greater than 
the proportion of the total contract value which has been invoiced, the Group evaluates whether it has obtained, through its 
performance to date, the right to the uninvoiced consideration and therefore whether revenue should be recognized. In particular it 
considers whether there is sufficient certainty that the invoice milestones will be achieved in the expected timeframe, that the 
customer considers that the Group’s contractual obligations have been, or will be, fulfilled and that only those costs budgeted to be 
incurred will be incurred. Where the Group considers that there is insufficient evidence that it is probable that the economic benefits 
associated with the transaction will flow into the Group, taking into account these criteria, revenue is not recognized until there is 
sufficient evidence that it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow into the Group. 

Revenue for maintenance is recognized on a straight-line basis over the period for which maintenance is contractually agreed with  
the licensee. 

The excess of licence fees, development income and maintenance invoiced over revenue recognized is recorded as deferred income. 

Royalty revenues are earned on the sale by licensees of products containing the Group’s technology. Revenues are recognized  
as they are earned to the extent that the Group has sufficient evidence of sales of products containing the Group’s technology  
by licensees. 

Revenues from the sale of products to support technology licensees and systems products utilising the Group’s technology to third 
parties are recognized upon delivery and are accounted for net of VAT, discounts and returns. Returns are recognized at the point at 
which the Group has adequate knowledge that products are likely to be returned by a customer.  
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Research and development costs 
Costs of basic and applied research are written off in the period in which they are incurred. 

Development expenditure is capitalized where it relates to a specific project where technical and commercial feasibility has been 
established, adequate technical, financial and other resources exist to complete the project, the expenditure attributable to the  
project can be measured reliably and future economic benefits are probable. In this case, it is recognized as an intangible asset and 
amortized over its useful economic life. All other development expenditure is recognized as an expense in the period in which it  
is incurred. 

Development costs incurred after the establishment of technical feasibility and overall project and commercial profitability have not 
been significant and, therefore, no costs have been capitalized to date. 

Operating leases 
Rental charges in respect of operating leases are charged to the income statement on a straight line basis over the life of the lease. 

Employee benefits 
The Group contributes to a defined contribution pension plan. Payments are charged to the income statement in the period to which 
they relate. 

Share-based payment transactions 
The share option programmes and the Share Incentive arrangements allow Group employees to acquire shares of the Company. The 
fair value of Share Incentives is recognized as an expense with a corresponding increase in equity. The fair value is measured at grant 
date and spread over the period during which the employee becomes unconditionally entitled to the Share Incentives. The fair value 
of the Share Incentives granted is measured using the Black-Scholes or Monte Carlo Simulation models. The amount recognized as 
an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of Share Incentives that vest except where forfeiture is due only to market-based 
performance conditions not meeting the threshold for vesting.  

For the Share Appreciation Rights, cash bonuses are calculated by reference to the value of shares. The fair value of these bonuses is 
recognized as an expense, with a corresponding increase in liabilities over the period in which the employees become unconditionally 
entitled to payment. The liability is remeasured at each reporting date and at settlement date. Any changes in the fair value of the 
liability are recognized as personnel expense in the income statement. 

Transactions of the Group-sponsored Employee Benefit Trust are included in the Group’s consolidated financial statements. In 
particular, the trust’s purchase of shares in the Company is debited directly in equity to retained earnings. 

Taxation 
Tax on the profit or loss for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognized in the income statement except to the 
extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity, in which case it is recognized in equity.  

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the 
balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.  

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method on any temporary differences between the carrying amounts for 
financial reporting purposes and those for taxation purposes. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner 
of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the 
balance sheet date. The following temporary differences are not provided for: goodwill not deductible for tax purposes. 

A deferred tax asset is recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which  
the asset can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer possible that the related tax benefit will  
be realised. 

Foreign exchange 
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities at the rates of exchange 
ruling at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated to the 
functional currency at rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. Exchange gains and losses are taken to the income 
statement. 

On consolidation, results of foreign subsidiary undertakings are translated at the average rates of exchange for the year. The assets 
and liabilities are translated at rates ruling at the balance sheet date. Exchange differences arising from retranslation have been 
recognized directly in the translation reserve within equity. This reserve was set to zero at 1st April 2004. 

Segment reporting 
An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur 
expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other components. All operating 
segments’ operating results are reviewed regularly by the board of directors to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the 
segment and assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available. 
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Intangible assets  
Software, trademarks and patents are capitalized as intangible assets at cost of acquisition and amortized on a straight line basis over 
their estimated useful economic lives, between 3 and 5 years. The residual values of intangible assets are assumed to be nil. Useful 
economic lives are reviewed on an annual basis. When the Group makes an acquisition, management review the business and assets 
acquired to determine whether any intangible assets should be recognized separately from goodwill. Fair value of the intangible 
assets is assessed assuming a hypothetical market. The Group utilizes the income based approach when reliable future cash flows 
are available. Alternatively, the cost approach or market approach are utilized. 

Trade investments 
Trade investments are classed as available for sale and are stated on the balance sheet at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss 
being recognized directly in equity (in the revaluation reserve), except for impairment losses. When these investments are 
derecognized, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized directly in equity is recognized in profit or loss. 

The fair value of unquoted investments is made by reference to recent funding rounds or, in the absence of the former, to a 
discounted cash-flow forecast. 

Goodwill 
Purchased goodwill (representing the excess of the fair value of the consideration paid or payable over the net fair value of the 
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired) arising on consolidation in respect of acquisitions is capitalized. 
Goodwill is allocated to cash generating units expected to benefit from the acquisition and is not amortised but tested annually for 
impairment. Any impairment is recognized immediately in the income statement and may not be subsequently reversed. Impairment 
testing is based on assets grouped at the lowest possible level at which goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes. 

On disposal of a subsidiary or business, the attributable goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or loss on disposal. 

Goodwill is stated on the balance sheet at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 

Business combinations that took place prior to 1st April 2004 have not been re-stated and goodwill represents the amount recognized 
under the Group’s previous accounting framework. 

Property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated to write down their cost using the straight line method to their estimated residual 
values over the period of their estimated useful economic lives. Periodic reviews are made of estimated remaining useful economic 
lives and residual values, and the depreciation rates applied are: 

 Freehold land  No depreciation 

 Freehold buildings 2 per cent on cost 

 Leasehold improvements Equally over the period of the lease 

 Plant and equipment 10 per cent to 33 per cent on cost 

 Motor vehicles 25 per cent on cost 

Impairment  
Non-financial assets 
Goodwill has an indefinite useful life, is not subject to amortisation and is tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to 
amortisation or depreciation are reviewed for impairment on an annual basis or whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. If any such condition exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is 
estimated in order to determine the extent, if any, of the impairment loss. Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are 
independent from other assets, estimates are made of the cashflows of the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs.  

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell, and value in use. In assessing value in use, estimated future 
cashflows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate appropriate to the specific asset or cash generating unit.  

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash generating unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying value of 
the asset or cash generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized immediately in the income 
statement.  

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to 
determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been 
recognized. Impairment losses in respect of goodwill are not reversed. 
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Financial assets 
A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more events have had a negative effect on 
the estimated future cash flows of that asset. 

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortized cost is calculated as the difference between its carrying 
amount, and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate. An impairment loss 
in respect of an available-for-sale financial asset is calculated by reference to its current fair value. 

Individually significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis. The remaining financial assets are assessed 
collectively in groups that share similar credit risk characteristics. 

All impairment losses are recognized in the income statement. Any cumulative gain or loss in respect of an available-for-sale financial 
asset recognized previously in equity is transferred to the income statement. 

An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized. 
For financial assets measured at amortized cost and available-for-sale financial assets that are debt securities, the reversal is recognized 
in profit or loss. For available-for-sale financial assets that are equity securities, the reversal is recognized directly in equity. 

Inventories 
Inventory is valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventory is calculated using the FIFO method. Finished 
goods include direct costs and attributable overheads based on the normal level of activity. 

Cash and equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents comprises cash balances and call deposits with an original maturity of less than or equal to three months. 
Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are included as a 
component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose only of the statement of cash flows.  

Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are initially measured at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses. 

Long Term Borrowing 
Long term borrowings are recognized initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, long 
term borrowings are stated at amortized cost with any difference between cost and redemption value being recognized in the income 
statement over the period of the borrowings on an effective interest basis. 

Leases 
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating 
leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the income statement 
on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. 

Significant accounting judgements and estimates 
In applying the Group’s accounting policies described above, management has made the following judgements and estimates that 
have a significant impact on the amounts recognized in the financial statements: 

Revenue Recognition 
The Group has made estimates on the percentage-to-completion for licensing and development work which affect the amount of 
revenue recognized in the period. These estimates involve the Group assessing the estimated resource and time required to complete 
development projects. 

Share based payments 
The fair value of the Share Incentives is measured at grant date and spread over the period during which the employee becomes 
unconditionally entitled to the incentives. The fair value of the Share Incentives is measured using the Black-Scholes or Monte Carlo 
Simulation models which take into account the terms and conditions upon which the award was made. In determining the appropriate 
expense, the Group has made estimates on the likelihood that internal performance targets will be achieved and on the number of 
employees that will be employed on vesting. Details of share-based payments and the assumptions applied are disclosed in note 23.  

Taxation  
A deferred tax asset is recognized only to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to utilize the 
temporary difference. The Group has made estimates on the likelihood that future taxable profit will utilize these tax losses. 

Impairment of Goodwill 
The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at a minimum on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use 
of the cash generating units to which the goodwill relates. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the 
expected future cash flows from the cash generating unit that holds the goodwill at a determined discount rate and an appropriate 
growth rate to calculate the present value of those cash flows. Details of assumptions used are set out in note 9. 

Valuation of acquired Intangible assets 
When the Group makes an acquisition, management review the business and assets acquired to determine whether any intangible 
assets should be recognized separately from goodwill. If such an asset is identified, then it is valued by discounting the probable 
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future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset over the estimated life of the asset, or where future cashflows are less 
certain, by discounting the cost of replicating such intangible asset. Where there is uncertainty over the amount of economic benefit 
and the useful life, this is factored into the calculation. 

Investments 
The Group has stated trade investments at fair value.  

Further details of these investments and the valuation basis are detailed in note 11 and note 21. 

Adopted IFRS not yet applied 

The following accounting standards, amendments and interpretations had been issued but they are not yet effective for the Group 
and have not been early adopted. Their adoption is not expected to have a material effect on the financial statements unless 
otherwise indicated: 

•  Improvements to IFRSs (effective for various dates, the earliest being annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011)      

•  Revised IAS 24 ‘Related party disclosures’ (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011)  

•  Amendment to IFRIC 14 ‘Prepayment of a minimum funding requirement’ (effective for annual periods beginning on or after  
1 January 2011) 

2 Segment Reporting 
The Group determines and presents operating segments based on the information that is provided internally to the Board of 
Directors, which is the Group’s chief operating decision maker. The Group is organized into two operating divisions which offer 
different services to different industries and are managed separately: the Technology business and the PURE Digital business. The 
costs of the corporate head office and other costs which are not controlled by the operating divisions are allocated to these divisions. 
These divisions are the operating segments that are reported to the chief operating decision maker and are the Group’s reportable 
segments. There is no inter-segment trading and no significant seasonality in the Group’s operations. 

Principal activities are as follows: 

Technology business – the development of embedded graphics, video, display and multi-threaded processor and multi-standard 
broadcast receiver and connectivity technologies for licensing to semiconductor companies for incorporation into silicon devices. 

PURE Digital business – the development and marketing of consumer products to showcase the technologies of the Technology 
business and to develop new and emerging markets for such technologies. 

Information regarding the operations of each reportable segment is included below. Performance is measured based on operating profit. 

  2011 2010 
  £’000 £’000 

Revenue 
Technology business  69,782 47,357 
PURE Digital business  28,263 33,570 

  98,045 80,927 
 
Operating profit/(loss) 
Technology business  20,039 11,025 
PURE Digital business  (3,779) (886) 

Segment operating profit  16,260 10,139 
Net financing income  100 52 

Profit before tax  16,360 10,191 

Taxation  2,918 4,016 

Profit for the financial year   19,278 14,207 
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Total assets 
Technology business  89,897 33,066 
PURE Digital business  10,410 7,695 

Total segment assets                                                                                                                  100,307                                  40,761 
Cash and cash equivalents                                                                                                          49,374                                  29,367                          
Deferred tax 24,868 11,018 

Total assets  174,549 81,146 
 
Total liabilities 
Technology business  20,745 8,003 
PURE Digital business  5,147 3,926 

Total segment liabilities   25,892  11,929 
Unallocated liabilities  5,587 431 

Total liabilities  31,479 12,360 
 
Other segment items 
Capital expenditure Technology business 26,538  1,660 
  PURE Digital business 503 318 

  27,041 1,978 
 
Depreciation and amortisation Technology business 2,921 1,692 
  PURE Digital business 306 268 

  3,227 1,960 
 
Revenue is reported by geographical area of sales as follows: 

  2011 2010 
  £’000 £’000 

United Kingdom and Europe 28,951 35,576 
Asia 20,218 19,003 
North America 46,702 24,705 
Rest of the world 2,174 1,643 

   98,045 80,927 
 
Revenue from the largest customer of the Group in the year, which is included in revenue for the Technology division, represents 
approximately £19,299,000 of the Group’s total revenues. 

All revenue originated materially from United Kingdom and Europe. 

The operating profit, net assets and capital expenditure of the Group materially relate to the United Kingdom and Europe. 

Adjusted Profit 
Adjusted profit is used by management to measure the performance of the business year on year by excluding non-recurring 
items, non-cash based share incentive charges and amortisation of intangible assets acquired from acquisitions.  

  Year to 30 April 2011 Year to 30 April 2010 
 Technology PURE Total Technology PURE Total 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Reported operating profit 20,039 (3,779) 16,260 11,025 (886) 10,139 
Share-based incentive costs 4,958 993 5,951 2,664 604 3,268 
Net gain on investments – – – (148) – (148) 
Amortisation of intangibles from acquisitions 890 – 890 – – – 
Acquisition transaction costs 809 – 809 – – – 

Adjusted operating profit/(loss) 26,696 (2,786) 23,910 13,541 (282) 13,259 
Net financing income   100   52 

Adjusted profit before tax   24,010   13,311 
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3 Expenses and Auditors’ Remuneration 
 2011 2010 
 £’000 £’000 

Operating profit is stated after charging/(crediting): 

 Depreciation and amortisation of owned property, plant and equipment and  3,227 1,960 
      intangible assets  

 Foreign exchange loss/(gain) 873 (268) 
       Operating lease rentals: 
    Property 1,090 1,149 
    Other 3,023 737 
 
Auditors’ remuneration 
 Audit of these financial statements 25 23 
 Amount received by auditors and their associates in respect of:  
 Audit of financial statements of subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 57 43 
 Other services – due diligence and tax advisory related to acquisitions 55 4 

 137 70 

 
Amounts paid to the Company’s auditor in respect of services to the Company, other than the audit of the Company’s financial 
statements, have not been disclosed as the information is required instead to be disclosed on a consolidated basis. 

4 Employees  
The average number of persons employed by the Group (including Directors) was:  2011 2010 

Research and Development 560 433 
Production 33 34 
Administration 67 63 
Sales and Marketing 65 60 

 725 590 

 
The aggregate payroll costs of these persons were: £’000 £’000 

Wages and salaries 26,704 20,832 
Social security costs 2,654 2,282 
Other pension costs 2,155 1,876 
Share-based payment 5,951 3,268 

 37,464 28,258 

 

Details of the share-based payments are set out in note 23. Included in the charge for share based payment for 2010 was £92,000 in 
respect of share appreciation rights.  

Complete information on the share incentives and shares held by Directors is set out in the Remuneration Report on pages 43 to 47. 

5  Financial Income 
 2011 2010 
 £’000 £’000 

Interest receivable and similar income 158 64 

6 Financial Expenses 
 2011 2010 
 £’000 £’000 

Interest on bank loans 58 12 
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7 Taxation  
 2011 2010 
 £’000 £’000 

Analysis of tax credit in the year 

Current tax charge 

Foreign tax 1,356 861 
Credit from UK R & D tax claim (1,295) – 

Deferred tax 

Origination and reversal of timing differences (2,979) (4,877) 

Total income tax credit (2,918) (4,016) 

 

The total tax credit of £2,918,000 (2010: £4,016,000) for the year is lower (2010: lower) than the standard rate of corporation tax in the 
UK of 28% (2010: 28%).  The difference is explained below: 

 2011 2010 
 £’000 £’000 

Profit before taxation 16,360 10,191 

Notional tax charge at UK standard rate of 28% (2010: 28%) 4,581 2,853 
 
Permanent differences (2,958) (1,485) 

Benefit from previously unrecognized tax assets  (7,429) (6,042) 

Effect of tax rate change 940 – 

Adjustments in respect of prior periods 592 – 

Withholding tax  1,356 658 

Total tax credit (2,918) (4,016) 

 

Tax on items charged to equity: 
Deferred tax credit in respect of share based payments (11,183) – 

 

Deferred tax 
The movement on the deferred tax account is as follows: 

 2011 2010 
 £’000 £’000 

At beginning of the period 11,018 5,384 
Acquisition of subsidiaries (4,651) – 
Credited to income statement 2,979 4,877 
Credited to equity 11,183 757 

At end of the period 20,529 11,018 

 

An additional £7,429,000 (2010: £5,558,000) of previously unrecognized tax assets were recognized in the year, as based on an 
assessment of forecasts of future taxable profits, management considered it probable that future taxable profit will be available 
against which £24,868,000 (2010: £11,018,000) of tax losses can be utilized. The element of the deferred tax asset related to share-
based payments arises from the potential future tax benefit on the exercise of incentives. 

A deferred tax liability of £4,651,000 arose on intangible assets acquired as part of the acquisitions of Caustic Graphics, Inc. and 
HelloSoft Inc. This deferred tax liability will reduce as the intangible asset is amortised over its useful life with the balance remaining 
at year end set out above. Further details on the acquisitions are set out in note 25.  
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 2011 2010 
 £’000 £’000 

Deferred taxation has been presented on the balance sheet as follows: 
Deferred tax asset 24,868 11,018 
Deferred tax liability (4,339) – 

At end of the period 20,529 11,018 

 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are only offset where there is a legally enforceable right to offset and there is an intention to settle 
the balance net. 

The major components of deferred tax assets and liabilities at the year-end (without taking into consideration the offsetting of 
balances within the same tax jurisdiction) are as follows:   

 2011 2010 
 £’000 £’000 

Recognized deferred tax assets/(liabilities) 

Tax losses 11,390 6,987 

Share-based payments 14,532 1,195 
Capital allowances (1,067) 2,788 

Other timing differences 13 48 

Acquisition of Intangibles (4,339) – 

 20,529 11,018 

 
 2011 2010 
 £’000 £’000 

Unrecognized deferred tax assets 
Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of the following items (reported at the applicable tax rate): 
 
Tax losses 9,293 13,208 

 9,293 13,208 

 
The balance of £9,293,000 relates to losses in the US (2010: £1,993,000) which expire progressively over the next 15 years.  Of the 
balance, £8,321,879 (2010: £Nil) relates to losses brought over from the acquisitions (see note 25). These are available for utilization 
against profit arising in the US in future periods. None of the losses in the current year balance relate to the UK (2010: £11,215,000). 
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8 Earnings Per Share 
  2011 2010 
  £’000 £’000 

Profit attributable to equity holders of the parent 19,278 14,207 

 

  2011 2010 

  Shares Shares 

  000’s 000’s 

Weighted average number of shares in issue  250,223 236,647 

Effect of dilutive shares: Employee Incentive Schemes  11,674 15,250 

Weighted average number of shares potentially in issue 261,897 251,897 

 
 
  2011 2010 

Earnings per share              Basic 7.7p 6.0p 

                                            Diluted 7.4p 5.6p 

 
Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue to assume conversion 
of all potential dilutive ordinary shares. Details of the schemes considered in arriving at the potentially dilutive ordinary shares are set 
out in note 23. 

9 Intangible Assets 

  Intangible assets  Software, patents 
 Goodwill from acquisitions and trademarks Total
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Cost 
At 1st April 2009 7,129 – 9,137 16,266 
Additions – – 789 789 
At 30th April 2010 7,129 – 9,926 17,055 
 
As of 1st May 2010 7,129  – 9,926 17,055 
Additions                                                                        – – 1,014 1,014 
Acquisition of subsidiaries    27,221  13,348 – 40,569 
At 30th April 2011 34,350 13,348 10,940 58,638 
 
Amortisation 
At 1st April 2009 3,517 – 7,840 11,357 
Charge for the year – – 572 572 
At 30th April 2010 3,517 – 8,412 11,929 
 

As at 1st May 2010 3,517 – 8,412 11,929 

Charge for the year – 890 731 1,621 

At 30th April 2011 3,517 890 9,143 13,550 

 
Net book value at 30th April 2009 3,612 – 1,297 4,909 
Net book value at 30th April 2010 3,612 – 1,514 5,126 

Net book value at 30th April 2011 30,833 12,458 1,797 45,088 

 
Goodwill was acquired through acquisitions and relates to the Technology business, which is considered to be a single cash-
generating unit. During the period the Group tested its balance of goodwill for impairment in accordance with IAS 36, ‘Impairment of 
assets’. The test was based on a calculation of the recoverable amount based on value in use, using projected cash flows for the 
Technology business.  
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The key assumptions in the value in use calculations were: 

Period over which the Directors have projected cashflows – a five year forecast period is used which is based on management 
forecasts of future profits, with an assumed terminal growth rate after 2015 of 2.5% per annum (2010: 2.5%). The terminal growth 
rate is assessed taking into account general economic conditions. 

Forecast revenue growth – the revenue projections are consistent with those used by the Group for financial planning purposes. 

Forecast operating margins – the operating margin projections are consistent with those used by the Group for financial  
planning purposes. 

Discount rate – future cash flows are discounted at a rate of 15% which represents a pre tax rate that reflects the Group’s weighted 
average cost of capital adjusted for the risks specific to the Technology business (2010: 15%). 

The Directors do not believe that any reasonably foreseeable changes to key assumptions would result in an impairment of goodwill, 
such is the margin by which the estimated fair value exceeds the carrying value. 

10 Property, Plant and Equipment 
 
 Freehold land  Leasehold Plant and 
 and buildings improvements equipment Total 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Cost 
At 1st April 2009 1,115 2,567       9,657         13,339 
Additions 69 71 1,049 1,189 
Disposals – – (5) (5) 
At 30th April 2010 1,184 2,638 10,701 14,523 
 
Additions 9,430 470 2,514 12,414 
Acquisition of subsidiaries – – 265 265 
At 30th April 2011 10,614 3,108 13,480 27,202 
 
Depreciation 
At 1st April 2009 93 1,218 7,177 8,488 
Charge for the year 19 310 1,059 1,388 
Disposals – – (3) (3) 
At 30th April 2010 112 1,528 8,233 9,873 
 
Charge for the year  128 209 1,269 1,606 
Disposals  – – – – 
At 30th April 2011  240 1,737 9,502 11,479 
 
Net book value at 30th April 2009            1,022                 1,349      2,480                      4,851 
Net book value at 30th April 2010 1,072 1,110 2,468 4,650 
Net book value at 30th April 2011 10,374 1,371 3,978 15,723 

 
     2011 2010 
     £’000 £’000 

The net book value of freehold land and buildings comprises: 
 Land    3,971 165 
 Buildings    6,403 907 

     10,374 1,072 

 
During the year, the Group acquired its existing and additional buildings on its Kings Langley site in order to enable the Group to 
expand its facilities. In order to finance the purchase the Group took out a new loan for £5,215,000. The loan floats at 1.6% above 
LIBOR and the unexpired term is 5 years. 

11 Investment 
    2011 2010 
    £’000 £’000 

Trade investments classified as available for sale    5,717  4,550 
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The investments relate to the Group’s holdings in Toumaz Holdings, Frontier Silicon, GreenPlug, Audiboo and Blu-Wireless. 

Toumaz Holdings (‘Toumaz’) – the Group’s holding in Toumaz, a company listed on AIM, was valued at £2,459,000 (£2010: 
£2,591,000) by reference to the quoted share price of Toumaz Holdings at the reporting date. The reduction in value of £132,000 has 
been recognized as a change in fair value of available for sale investments in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Frontier Silicon (‘Frontier’) – the Group’s equity holding in Frontier was valued by means of a discounted cashflow forecast based on a five 
year profit forecast, an annual terminal growth rate after 2015 of 2.5% (2010: 2.5%) and using a discount rate of 15% (2010: 15%). As a 
result of Frontier’s capital structure, the Group’s equity investment has remained at £Nil (2010: £Nil). The Group also has a Loan Note 
from Frontier for £795,000 (2010: £795,000) which has been reclassified from Loans during the year to Investments. The Loan Note in 
Frontier Silicon is redeemable in the event of a sale or listing of Frontier, or at the discretion of Frontier, or the Loan note holders in 
Frontier, subject to approval by a majority of the Loan Note holders. The fair value of the Loan Note is assessed as £795,000. 

GreenPlug – the Group’s holding in GreenPlug, a private US company, at 30 April 2010 was valued at £1,959,000. During the year, the 
Group received further shares in GreenPlug in consideration for licences and services provided by the Group to GreenPlug valued at 
£325,000. The Group’s holding in GreenPlug at 30 April 2011 was valued by reference to a GreenPlug funding round in February 2011 
which valued the Group’s holding at £2,116,000. A £168,000 reduction in value due to exchange has been recognized as a change in 
fair value of available for sale investments in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Audioboo – the Group invested £190,000 for an equity holding in Audiboo, a private UK company, in June 2010. The Group’s holding 
in Audiboo was valued by reference to a recent funding round. The Group also invested £111,000 in a Convertible Loan Note in 
Audioboo which is convertible at the discretion of the Group. The fair value of the Convertible Loan Note is assessed as £111,000. 

Blu-Wireless – in consideration for licences and services provided by the Group to Blu-Wireless, a private UK company, during the 
period the Group has a holding in Blu-Wireless valued at £46,000. The Group’s holding in Blu-Wireless was valued by reference to a 
recent funding round. 

All gains and impairment charges relating to trade investments classified as available for sale relate to the Technology business.  

Details of the Group’s subsidiary undertakings, which are involved in the licensing of the design of multimedia technology and the 
sale of multimedia products, are as follows: 

 
 Country of incorporation Percentage of issued 
Name of subsidiary undertaking and of operation Type of shares Share capital held 

Imagination Technologies Limited  UK Ordinary 100% 
PowerVR Technologies Limited* UK Ordinary 100% 
Metagence Technologies Limited* UK Ordinary **100% 
Ensigma Technologies Limited* UK Ordinary 100% 
VideoLogic Systems Limited* UK Ordinary 100% 
Cross Products Limited* UK Ordinary 100% 
PURE Digital Limited* UK Ordinary **100% 
VideoLogic GmbH Germany Ordinary **100% 
Imagination Technologies Inc USA Ordinary **100% 
Imagination Technologies KK  Japan Ordinary 100% 
Imagination Technologies India Private Limited India Ordinary **100% 
PURE Australasia Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary **100% 
Bristol Interactive Limited* UK Ordinary **100% 
Caustic Graphics, Inc. US Ordinary 100% 
HelloSoft Inc. US Ordinary 100% 
HelloSoft India Private Limited India Ordinary **100% 

 
All of the above companies are included in the Group financial statements.     *non-trading     **indirect holding 

12 Inventories 
  2011 2010 
  £’000 £’000 

Raw materials and components  1,100 1,115 
Finished goods  5,105 3,857 

 6,205 4,972 

 
Provisions of £1,009,000 (2010: £705,000) recognized in operating expenses were made against inventories. During the period, 
£1,009,000 (2010: £1,060,000) of the provision against inventories was utilized; £541,000 (2010: £992,000) for the write-down of 
inventories to net realisable value and £468,000 (2010: £68,000) for the write off of inventories. As at 30 April 2011 the provision for 
obsolescence of inventories was £337,000 (2010: £337,000). 

Raw materials, consumables and changes in finished goods and work in progress recognized as cost of sales in the period amounted 
to £20,135,000 (2010: £23,671,000).  
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13 Trade and Other Receivables 
Trade and other receivables – current assets 
   2011 2010 
   £’000 £’000 

Trade receivables  13,065 6,924 
Prepayments and accrued income  14,287 13,379 
Other receivables 222 365 

  27,574 20,668 

 

Provisions for impairment of £81,000 (2010: £2,000) recognized in operating expenses were made against receivables. £6,000 (2010: 
£2,000) of provisions were utilized by writing down the gross value of receivables. As at 30 April 2011 the provision for impairment of 
trade receivables was £125,000 (2010: £50,000). 

Other receivables – non-current assets 
   2011 2010 
   £’000 £’000 

Loan  – 795 

 
The loan balance of £795,000 was a loan note from Frontier Silicon which has been reclassified to Investments. 

 

14 Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 2011 2010
 £’000 £’000 

Cash at bank – short term deposits 46,550 27,016 
Cash at bank – current account 2,824 2,351 

 

Cash and cash equivalents as per Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 49,374 29,367 
 
Cash and cash equivalents as per Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 49,374 29,367 

 

15 Trade and Other Payables 
 2011 2010
 £’000 £’000 

Trade payables 4,330 2,997 
Other payables including tax and social security 909 835 
Accruals and deferred income 10,564 8,097 
Contingent consideration 1,823 – 

 17,626 11,929 

 
The contingent consideration is in respect of the acquisition of HelloSoft Inc. and represents an assessment of probable future 
consideration, converted using the period end exchange rate, due within 12 months based on the achievement of certain revenue and 
profit targets. The non-current portion of contingent consideration is set out in note 17. 
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16 Interest Bearing Loans and Borrowings 

 2011 2010
 £’000 £’000 

Current liabilities 
Bank Loan 60 58 

 
Non-current liabilities 

Bank Loan 5,527 373 

 5,587 431 

 
Borrowings to be repaid within 1 year  60 58 
Borrowings to be repaid between 1 and 5 years 5,470 232 
Borrowings to be repaid over 5 years 57 141 

 5,587 431 

 

The Group has two loans secured on freehold buildings. The existing loan has a balance of £372,000 with fixed repayments. The 
unexpired term of the loan is 8 years and the interest rate on the loan floats at 2.0% above base rate. A new loan for £5,215,000 was 
taken out during the year for the purchase of the Group’s existing and adjacent property in Kings Langley. The loan floats at 1.6% 
above LIBOR and the unexpired term is 5 years. The Group considers the requirements for long term borrowings by assessing the 
future cash flows of the business. 

17 Other payables 
Other non-current payables 

 2011 2010
 £’000 £’000 

 
Deferred and contingent consideration 3,927 – 

 
As explained in note 15, contingent consideration is in respect of the acquisition of HelloSoft Inc. The non-current portion of 
£3,927,000 includes deferred consideration retained for a defined period and the non-current portion of the contingent consideration. 

18 Capital and Reserves 
Called Up Share Capital 
  Authorised Allotted, called up 
   and fully paid 

Ordinary shares of 10p each No. £’000 No. £’000 

At 1 May 2010 300,000,000 30,000 243,454,365 24,345 
Issued during period – – 14,698,263 1,470 

At 30 April 2011 300,000,000 30,000 258,152,628 25,815 

 
The rights attached to ordinary shares are as set out in the Directors’ Report. 

Share Capital and Share Premium  
The movement on the Share Capital and Share Premium reserve in the period arises from the issue of: 

i)   12,208,950 ordinary shares were issued fully paid on 17 November 2010 to institutional investors pursuant to a placement. The 
market price of the shares immediately prior to placement was 310p. The consideration for the shares, net of brokerage fees, was 
£37,124,000 settled in cash. 

ii)   2,489,313 ordinary shares fully paid pursuant to the terms of various Employee Share Option Schemes and the exercise  
of warrants. The consideration for the shares was £1,017,000. Of this consideration, £936,000 was settled in cash and £81,000 
relating to shares issued in respect of the Employee Benefit Trust settled via inter-company loans within the Group. 

Other Capital Reserve 
The balance on the Other Capital Reserve reflects the value of warrants issued in respect of the acquisition of Ensigma Limited.  
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Merger Reserve 
The Merger Reserve arose in the Group reconstruction in 1994 prior to its flotation. 

Revaluation Reserve 
The Revaluation Reserve comprises the cumulative net change in the fair value of the trade investments until the investments are 
derecognized.  

Translation Reserve 
The Translation Reserve reflects the exchange differences from retranslation of the opening net investments in overseas subsidiaries 
to closing rate and translation of the results for the year from average rates to the closing rate. 

19 Operating Leases  
Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows: 

   Land and buildings   Other 
  2011 2010 2011  2010 
  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Within one year 704 1,095 2,605 919 
In two to five years 2,011 3,809 4,225 1,259 
After five years 1,303 3,603 – – 

  4,018 8,507 6,830 2,178 

 
Other operating leases include the rental of software and vehicles. 

20 Capital Commitments  
At 30 April 2011, the Group had contracted for capital commitments of £702,000 (2010: £412,000).  

21 Financial Instruments  
Overview 
The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: 

• Market risk 

• Credit risk 

• Liquidity risk 

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, policies and processes 
for measuring and managing risk. 

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management framework. 

Categories of financial instruments 
Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement 
and the basis on which income and expenses are recognized in respect of each class of financial assets, financial liability and equity 
instrument are disclosed in note 1 to the Financial Statements. 
   2011 2010 
  Notes £’000 £’000 

Financial assets 
Loans and receivables 
 Trade and other receivables 13 13,287 7,289 
 Loans  13 – 795 
Cash and cash equivalents 14 49,374 29,367 
Available for sale investments 11 5,717 4,550 

Total financial assets  68,378 42,001 

 
   2011 2010 
  Notes £’000 £’000 

Financial liabilities 
Bank loan 16 5,587 431 
Trade and other payables  15 5,239 3,832 

Total financial liabilities  10,826 4,263 
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Market Risk 
Market risk is the risk that changes in the market prices, such as foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates, will affect the 
Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk is to manage and control market risk 
exposures within acceptable parameters, whilst optimizing the return on risk. 

a) Foreign currency risk 

The Group transacts licence and development agreements with customers and purchases of products for PURE primarily in US 
dollars and, therefore, the Group’s earnings are exposed to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates. The Group reviews its foreign 
exchange exposure on a regular basis and, if there is a material exposure to exchange rate fluctuations and the Board considers it 
appropriate, the Group will reduce the risk by currency hedging on net receivable/payable balances. Forward contracts will be entered 
into with the objective of matching their maturity with currency receipt. During the period and as at 30 April 2011 and 30 April 2010 
there were no outstanding currency contracts. 

The analysis of financial assets and liabilities by foreign currency is as follows: 

 

 30 April 2011  30 April 2010 
                                                       £            $              €      Other          Total  £ $    €       Other       Total 

Trade receivables                      2,341      10,174        311         239         13,065   1,797  4,803      214         110       6,924 

Other receivables                        222            –           –            –              222   365 –        –          –           365  

Loans                                           –            –            –           –         –        795         –        –          –           795  

Cash and cash equivalents     37,125     10,498       1,191        560         49,374   25,155 3,071 770        371      29,367    

Available for sale assets            3,601       2,116         –            –           5,717 2,590 1,960  –          –        4,550  

Trade payables                         (1,244)     (2,958)        (22)        (106)       (4,330) (1,831)   (1,112)     (12)      (42)      (2,997) 

Other payables                            (909)         –           –           –           (909)  (835)       –         –          –         (835)  

Bank loan                                     (5,587)        –           –            –        (5,587)        (431)      –         –            –         (431)    

 35,549    19,830      1,480     693        57,552      27,605 8,722  972        439      37,738 
 
The Group has a number of overseas business operations and operates in a number of foreign currencies which give rise to 
transactional and translational foreign exchange risk. The most important foreign currency to the Group is the US Dollar. 

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis 
The Group transacts a large proportion of its revenues and costs in US Dollars. Taking all income and expenditure in US Dollars into 
account, management have appraised that for the financial year to 30 April 2011, each additional one cent increase or decrease in the 
US Dollar exchange rate against Sterling would have decreased or increased revenues by circa £446,000 (2010: £314,000) and profit 
by circa £262,000 (2010: £21,000). 

b) Interest rate risk  

The Group’s earnings may be affected by changes in interest rates available on bank deposits. The Group aims to maximize returns 
from funds held on deposit and uses market deposits with major clearing banks accordingly. With the current level of bank deposits, 
the impact of a change in interest rates is not considered material. 
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In respect of income-earning financial assets and interest bearing financial liabilities, the following table indicates their average 
effective interest rate at the reporting date and the periods in which they mature or, if earlier, reprice. 

   2011    2010 
 Effective < 1 year > 1 year Total Effective < 1 year > 1 year Total 
 interest rate £’000 £’000 £’000  interest rate £’000 £’000 £’000 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Sterling  37,125 – 37,125  25,155 – 25,155 
US Dollars  10,498 – 10,498  3,071 – 3,071 
EU currencies  1,191 – 1,191  770 – 770 
Yen  118 – 118  95 – 95 
Rupees  151 – 151  47 – 47 
Yuan  35 – 35  52 – 52 
Australian $  256 – 256  177 – 177 

  49,374 – 49,374  29,367  – 29,367 

 
Floating rate 0.0% 2,824 – 2,824 0.0% 2,351 – 2,351 
Fixed rate 0.3% 46,550 – 46,550 0.2% 27,016 – 27,016 

  49,374 – 49,374  29,367 – 29,367 

 

Bank Loan 
Secured bank loan – Sterling* 2.5% (60) (312) (372) 2.5% (58) (373) (431) 

Secured bank loan – Sterling*  2.4% – (5,215) (5,215) – – – – 

  (60) (5,527) (5,587)  (58) (373) (431) 

 

* At floating rate. See note 16 for details.  

The fixed rate cash deposits were placed with banks throughout the year and earned interest of between 0.1% and 0.6%. Floating 
rate cash earns interest based on LIBID equivalents. 

Short term receivables and payables are not interest bearing with the exception of the short term element of the long term loan.  

The Group has two long term loans. The existing loan with a balance of £372,000 is repayable over 8 years and incurs interest at a 
rate of 2.0% over base rate. A new loan for £5,215,000 was taken out during the year. The loan floats at 1.6% above LIBOR and the 
unexpired term is 5 years.  

Interest rate sensitivity analysis 
In the financial year to 30 April 2011, if interest rates had been 100 basis points higher and all other variables were held constant, the 
Group’s profit would have been increased by circa £364,000 (2010: £256,000). Similarly, if interest rates had been 100 basis points 
lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s profit would have been decreased by circa £126,000 (2010: £45,000).  

Credit Risk 
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual 
obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers and investment of liquid funds.  

The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by only investing in liquid securities and only with counter parties that have a high  
credit rating.  

Capital Risk 
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while maximizing  
the return to stakeholders as well as sustaining the future development of the business. In order to maintain or adjust the capital 
structure, the Group may consider the total amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issued new 
shares or sell assets to reduce debt. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from the previous financial year. 

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes the borrowings disclosed in note 16, cash and cash equivalents 
and equity attributable to the parent, comprising share capital, reserves and retained earnings as disclosed in note 17. The CFO 
regularly monitors the capital risk on behalf of the board.  
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Trade Receivables 
The exposure to credit risk is mitigated by selling to a diverse range of customers. The Group has implemented policies that require 
appropriate credit checks on potential customers prior to sales taking place. At the balance sheet date there were no significant 
concentrations of credit risk either by customer or by geography. The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying 
amount of each financial asset in the balance sheet.  

  Gross Impairment           Gross Impairment 
  2011 2011 2010 2010 
Ageing of trade receivables: £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Not past due 10,072 – 6,040 – 
Past due 0-90 days 2,216 – 844 – 
Past due greater than 90 days 902 (125) 90 (50) 

  13,190 (125) 6,974 (50) 

 
Trade receivables that are less than three months overdue are generally not considered impaired. Receivables more than three 
months overdue are considered on a line by line basis and a provision is made where recovery is considered doubtful. 

No other financial assets are past due. 

Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. To minimize this risk the Group 
only invests funds in liquid securities. As a contingency, the Group maintains a £5 million overdraft facility. 

The following table is drawn up based on undiscounted contractual maturities including both interest and principal cashflows. 

 

 Carrying Contractual   Less than  More 
 amount  Cashflows 1 year 1-2 years  2-5 years than 5 years 
April 2011 £’000 £’000 £’000  £’000    £’000   £’000 

Bank loan  5,587 6,384 194 194   5,938 58  
Trade and other payables 5,239 5,239 5,239 – – – 

 10,826 11,623 5,433 194  5,938  58 

 
 Carrying Contractual   Less than  More 
 amount  Cashflows 1 year 1-2 years  2-5 years than 5 years 
April 2010 £’000 £’000 £’000  £’000  £’000   £’000 

Bank loan  431 475 69 69 206 131 

Trade and other payables 3,832 3,832 3,832 – – – 

 4,263 4,307 3,901 69 206 131 
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Fair values of financial instruments 
Fair value is defined as the amount at which a financial instrument could be exchanged in an arm’s length transaction between two 
informed and willing parties and is calculated by reference to market rates discounted to current value. 

  2011 2010 
  Carrying amount Carrying amount 
  and fair value and fair value
 Notes £’000 £’000 

Financial assets: 

Trade and other receivables  13 13,287 7,289 
Cash and cash equivalents  14 49,374  29,367 
Available for sale investments  11 5,717 4,550 
Other receivables:  
 Loan note  13 – 795 
 

Financial liabilities: 

Long term borrowings  16 (5,587) (431) 
Trade and other payables  15   (5,239) (3,832) 
 
 
Assumptions used in estimating the fair values of financial instruments reflected in the table above: 

Cash and cash equivalents 
The fair value approximates to book value due to the short term maturity of these instruments. 

Available for sale investments 

Fair Value Hierarchy 
The Group measures the fair value of available for sale investments using the following hierarchy that reflects the significance of the 
inputs used in making the measurement: 

Level 1: Quoted market price (unadjusted) in an active market for an identical financial instrument. 

Level 2: Valuation techniques based on observable inputs, such as market prices for similar financial instruments. 

Level 3: Valuation techniques using unobservable inputs which can have a significant effect on the instrument’s valuation. 

The Group has applied the above hierarchy to its investments as follows: 

Toumaz Holdings - the valuation is based on the quoted share price for Toumaz Holdings on AIM. This investment is categorised as 
Level 1. 

Frontier Silicon – the valuation of the equity holding in Frontier is based on a discounted cashflow with assumptions made on the 
forecast cashflows, the annual terminal growth rate and the discount rate. The fair value of the loan note in Frontier is assessed to 
approximate to book value. This investment is categorised as Level 3. 

GreenPlug – the valuation is based on the most recent funding round which is estimated to approximate to the fair value as at the 
reporting date. This investment is categorised as Level 3. 

Audiboo – the valuation of the equity holding in Audioboo is based on the most recent funding round which is estimated to 
approximate to the fair value as at the reporting date. The fair value of the convertible loan note in Audioboo is assessed to 
approximate to book value This investment is categorised as Level 3. 

Blu-Wireless – the valuation is based on the most recent funding round which is estimated to approximate to the fair value as at the 
reporting date. This investment is categorised as Level 3. 

 

The following table analyses investments, measured at fair value at the reporting date, by the level in the fair value hierarchy into 
which the fair value measurement is categorised: 

 
 2011 2010 
 £’000 £’000 

Level 1  2,459  2,591 
Level 2  – – 
Level 3  3,258  1,959 

 5,717 4,550 
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The following table shows a reconciliation from opening balances to the closing balances for fair value measurements in Level 3 of 
the fair value hierarchy: 
 £’000 

As at 30 April 2010  1,959 
Investment in the year  672 

Reclassification 795 

Total gains and losses: 
 In income statement – 
 In other comprehensive income  (168) 

As at 30 April 2011 3,258 
 

Although the Group believes that its estimates of fair value are appropriate, the use of different methodologies or assumptions could 
lead to different measurements of fair value.  

With respect to fair value measurements in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, the valuation of Frontier Silicon would not be impacted 
by making reasonable changes to the assumptions on the forecast cashflows, the annual terminal growth rate and the discount rate. 
The valuation of the GreenPlug is based on a funding round carried out in February 2011 and in the short intervening period the value 
is not viewed to be materially different. Any change in the valuation of GreenPlug would have a commensurate change in the value of 
the Group’s holding. 

Loan Note 
The Loan Note in Frontier Silicon is non-interest bearing. The time period for redemption of the Loan Note is subject to the discretion 
of Frontier Silicon, Loan Note holders or a sale or listing and therefore is undetermined. Fair value is therefore assessed to 
approximate to book value. 

The Convertible Loan Note in Audioboo is non-interest bearing. The time period for conversion of the Convertible Loan Note is subject 
to the discretion of the Group. Fair value is assessed to approximate to book value. 

Long term borrowings 
The fair value approximates to book value as this instrument is at a variable interest rate. 

22 Contingent Liabilities 
The Group had no contingent liabilities at 30 April 2011 or 30 April 2010. 

23 Employee Benefits 
Pension 
The Group participates in a number of defined contribution pension plans in the UK. The assets of the schemes are held separately in 
independently administered funds. There were no outstanding contributions at the balance sheet date. 

Share-based payments 
Share options 
The following options have been granted under the Imagination Technologies Key Employee Share Option Schemes, Savings Related 
Share Option Scheme and Long Term Incentive Plan and remain outstanding as at 30 April 2011: 
    Date from 
 Outstanding  Exercise which first Expiry 
  at 30 April 2011 price exercisable date 

Year of Issue 
2001 162,225 46p 2004 2011 
2002 447,950 19p 2005 2012 
2003 303,938 34.5p 2006 2013 
2003 32,500 60p 2006 2013 
2004 46,500 82p 2007 2014 
2005 879,069 64.25p 2008 2015 
2005 456,048 67.5p 2008 2015 
2006 *145,000 55p 2009 2016 
2008 1,535,398 55.6p 2011 2012 
2009 629,437 139p 2012 2013 
2010 353,664 305.2p 2013 2014 

Total  4,991,729  

Options marked* have been granted under the Long Term Incentive Plan. 
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The number and weighted average exercise prices of share options are as follows: 

 

  Weighted average Number Weighted average Number 
  exercise price of options exercise price of options 
  2011 2011 2010 2010 

Outstanding at the beginning of the period 65p 7,100,745 70p 12,620,969 
Exercised during the period  60p (1,673,440) 81p (6,015,291) 
Granted during the period  305p 358,381 139p 658,209 
Lapsed during the period  79p (793,957) 133p (163,142) 

Outstanding at the end of the period  82p 4,991,729 65p 7,100,745 

 
Exercisable at the end of the period  46p 2,473,230 54p 3,889,388 

 
The weighted average share price during the period was 364.8p (2010: 195.4p). 

The options outstanding at the year end have an exercise price in the range of 19p to 305p and a weighted average contractual life of 
3.0 years. 

Employee Share Plan 
The following awards have been granted under the Imagination Technologies Employee Share Plan and remain outstanding at  
30 April 2011: 

  Date from 
 Outstanding which first Expiry 
 at 30 April 2011 exercisable date 

Year of Issue 
2008 4,416,560          2011              2011 
2009 448,490          2012              2012 
2009 3,507,410          2012              2012 
2009 2,250,000       2012             2014 
2010 1,275,419 2013 2013 
2010 448,000 2013 2014 
2011 2,000,000 2014 2014 

Total 14,345,879 

 
As at 30 April 2011, 3,600,600 shares (2010: 3,600,600) were held by the Group’s Employee Benefit Trust. 

The Company has share option schemes and an employee share plan scheme, details of which are contained in the Remuneration 
Report. 

In accordance with IFRS 2, the fair value of services received in return for share options and employee share plan awards granted to 
employees is measured by reference to the fair value of share options and employee share plan awards granted. In accordance with 
the transitional provisions in IFRS 1 and IFRS 2, the recognition and measurement principles in IFRS 2 have not been applied to share 
option grants made prior to 7 November 2002 which had not vested by 1 April 2005. The estimate of the fair value of the services is 
measured based on the Black-Scholes or Monte Carlo Simulation models, financial models used to calculate the fair value of options 
and awards under the employee share plan. 
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The assumptions used in the calculation of the fair value of options are set out below: 

Date of share option grant Dec 2002 May 2003 Nov 2003 May 2004 Jun 2004 Jan 2005 Dec 2005 

Share price at grant date (pence) 19 34.5 60 83 82 64.25 67.5 
Exercise price (pence) 24-28 43-52 75-90 104-124 102-123 80-96 84-101 
Expected volatility 60% 60% 60% 60% 60% 60% 60% 
Risk free interest rate 4.4%          3.9% 4.9%         5.1% 5.2%     4.4%              4.4% 
Time to maturity (years)      5 5       5 5     5         5                   5 
Fair value per option (pence) 9.4 17.0 30.2 42.0 41.5 31.8 34.4 
 

Date of share option grant Jun 2006       Sep 2006 Sep 2007              Sep 2008 Oct 2009 Oct 2010 

Share price at grant date (pence) 5 88 113 69.5 210  432 
Exercise price (pence) 69-82 – – – – – 
Expected volatility 60% 60% 41% 46% 63% 64% 
Risk free interest rate 4.5% 4.5% 5.8% 4.4% 1.7% 0.8%  
Time to maturity (years) 5 3 3 3 3 3 
Fair value per option (pence) 28.0 34.7 44.5 31.2 118 235 
 
The assumptions used in the calculation of the fair value of the employee share plan awards are set out below: 

Date of employee share plan grant Sep 2006 Jul 2007 Aug 2007 Jan 2008  Oct 2008 

Share price at grant date (pence) 70.75 128.5 127.5 119 48 
Expected volatility 60% 41% 41%  41% 49% 
Risk free interest rate 4.5% 5.8% 5.8% 5.8% 3.4% 
Time to maturity (years) 3 3 3 3 3 
Fair value per option (pence) 53.0 78.4 77.6 72.6 34.2 
 
Date of employee share plan grant Oct 2009 Dec 2009      Apr 2010 Oct 2010 Dec 2010 Apr 2011 

Share price at grant date (pence) 208   228 226 435 378 435 
Expected volatility 63% 59% 63% – –  – 
Risk free interest rate 1.7% 2.2% 1.7% – – – 
Time to maturity (years) 3 3 3 3 3 3 
Fair value per option (pence) 156.3 145.0 182.0 435 378 435 
 
The expected volatility is based on the historic volatility, adjusted for any expected changes to future volatility due to publicly available 
information. 

Share-based payments for the year 
Share-based payments for the current and prior year are: 

 2011 2010
 £’000 £’000 

Incentives awarded in: 

2004/5 – 107 
2005/6 57 80 
2006/7 13 184 
2007/8 179 855 
2008/9 676 743 
2009/10 3,163 1,299 
2010/11 1,863 – 

 5,951 3,268 

 

The future estimated expense for share award schemes outstanding at 30th April 2011 is: 

 2011 2010
 £’000 £’000 

To be incurred within one year 9,666 3,693 
To be incurred after one year 12,013 5,945 
 21,679 9,638 
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A deferred tax asset of £14,532,000 has been recognized relating share-based payments. It arises from the potential future tax benefit 
on the exercise of incentives. 

24 Related Parties 
Identity of related parties 
Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries have been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. 

Transactions with key management personnel 
Key management personnel comprise the Directors. In addition to their salaries, the Group also provides non-cash benefits to 
Directors and contributes to post-employment benefit schemes on their behalf. Directors also participate in the Group’s share 
incentive programmes. The share based payments are valued at their fair value at the date of grant. Full details of Directors’ 
compensation, including post-employment benefits is given in the Remuneration Report. 

The key management personnel compensations are as follows: 

  2011 2010 
  £’000 £’000 

Emoluments  567 635 
Pension contributions 169 160 
Share based payments 1,148 530 

Total 1,884 1,325 

 
Details of key management’s interests in the Company’s shares and share options are set out in the Remuneration Report. 

During 2011 and 2010, no member of the Board of Directors had a personal interest in any business transactions of the Group. 

25 Acquisitions 
The Group made three acquisitions during the year; Caustic Graphics Inc., HelloSoft Inc. and Bristol Interactive Ltd. 

Details of net assets acquired for each acquisition are set out below.  

Caustic Graphics Inc. 
On 17th December 2010, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of Caustic Graphics Inc. (‘Caustic’), a company based in U.S., 
which has developed unique and patented hardware and software ray-tracing technologies. Ray-tracing is a technique used for 
rendering three-dimensional graphics with complex and more natural lighting models to achieve cinema-quality 3D and a level of near 
photographic realism that is impractical with traditional 3D graphics techniques. Caustic technology lowers the cost and significantly 
increases the efficiency and performance of ray-tracing.   

 

Details of the fair value of net assets acquired for Caustic are set out below: 

        Fair value to Group 
 on acquisition 
       £’000 

 
Property, plant and equipment            30 
Goodwill    14,066 
Intangible assets - developed technology       4,662 
Trade and other receivables            27 
Trade and other payables        (414) 
Deferred tax liability     (1,632) 
Net assets acquired     16,739 
 
Consideration transferred (net of £363,000 of cash acquired) 16,739 
Total consideration 16,739 
 
The goodwill of £14,066,000 represents the benefits that the Group expects to gain from combining Caustic’s technology with the 
Group’s existing market leading graphics technologies and promoting such combinations to its mainstream graphics markets across 
mobile, embedded, console and computing segments. The other intangible asset of £4,662,000 represents the value placed on 
Caustic technology and the deferred tax thereon was £1,632,000. None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductable for 
tax purposes. 

The loss attributable to the Group from the date of acquisition to 30 April 2011 was £1,456,000; revenue in the period was not 
material. The loss for the period from 1st May 2010 to the date of acquisition was £2,263,000, revenue was not material. Acquisition 
related transaction costs of £245,000 were incurred which were included in Sales and administrative expenses. 
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HelloSoft Inc. 
The Group acquired 100% of the share capital of HelloSoft Inc. (‘HelloSoft’), a company based in U.S., on 23rd December 2010. 
HelloSoft is one of the world’s leading providers of Video and Voice over Internet Protocol and wireless LAN technologies. HelloSoft 
supplies both software and semiconductor connectivity intellectual property to semiconductor manufacturers, and supplies software 
intellectual property to major ODMs/OEMs and also to tier one service providers/operators who offer Video and Voice over Internet 
Protocol services. 

 

Details of the fair value of net assets acquired for HelloSoft are set out below: 

        Fair value to Group 
 on acquisition 
       £’000 

 
Property, plant and equipment          235 
Goodwill     13,099 
Intangible assets - developed technology       8,686 
Trade and other receivables          403 
Trade and other payables      (2,115) 
Deferred tax liability      (3,019) 
Net assets acquired     17,289 
 
Consideration transferred (net of £229,000 of cash acquired)     11,183 
Deferred and contingent consideration       6,106 
Total consideration 17,289 
 

The goodwill of £13,099,000 represents the benefits that the Group expects to gain from complementing its existing and successful 
PowerVR multimedia processing IP cores to enable optimized end-to-end media over internet protocol solutions, securing full control 
of its Wi-Fi technology and roadmap that is already used in conjunction with its Universal Programmable Communication Platform, 
and securing access to new channels in the telecommunications market to operators/service providers and OEMs/product 
companies. The other intangible asset of £8,686,000 represents the value placed on the technology and the deferred tax thereon was 
£3,019,000. None of the goodwill recognized is expected to be deductable for tax purposes. 

The contingent consideration represents the fair value assessment as at acquisition date of probable future consideration due based 
on the achievement of certain revenue and profit targets. The maximum contingent consideration potentially payable is £12,055,000 
over the next two years. 

The revenue attributable to the Group from the date of acquisition to 30 April 2011 was £284,000 and loss was £405,000. The revenue 
and loss for the period from 1st May 2010 to the date of acquisition were respectively £781,000 and £770,000. Acquisition related 
transaction costs of £540,000 were incurred which were included in Sales and administrative expenses. 

Bristol Interactive Limited 
The Group acquired 100% of the share capital of Bristol Interactive Limited (‘Bristol’), a company based in U.K., on 17th November 
2010. Bristol was involved in the design of a development platform for the television market.  Bristol had no net asset value at date of 
acquisition. The cash consideration of £56,000 is goodwill which represents the benefits that the Group expects to gain from utilising 
elements of the development platform in future products. Following the acquisition there has been no trade in Bristol, with all further 
activities in the business undertaken by Imagination Technologies Limited. The loss of Bristol for the period from 1st May 2010 to 
date of acquisition was not material.
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Imagination Technologies Group plc Parent 
Company Balance Sheet 
 
  As at 30 April  As at 30 April 
  2011 2010 
 Notes £000 £000 

Fixed assets 
Investment in subsidiary undertakings 28 63,478 29,012 

  63,478 29,012 
Current assets 
Debtors 29 70,652 61,421 
Cash  132 281 

  70,784 61,702 

Current liabilities 

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 30 (163) (218) 

Net current assets  70,621 61,484 

 

Net assets  134,099 90,496 

 

Capital and reserves 

Called up share capital 33 25,815 24,345 
Share premium account 34 97,300 60,629 
Other capital reserve 34 1,423 1,423 
Warrant reserve 34 – – 
Share based payment reserve 34 13,317 7,366 
Retained earnings 34 (3,756) (3,267) 

Equity shareholders’ funds 35 134,099 90,496 

 

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 22 June 2011 and were signed on its behalf by: 

 

 
G S Shingles 
Director 
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26 Accounting Policies 
The Parent Company financial statements present information about the Company as a separate entity and not about its Group. 

The following accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items which are considered material in relation to the 
financial statements. 

There are no new accounting policies which would have a significant impact in the current year.  

Basis of preparation 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with applicable UK Accounting Standards and under the historical 
accounting rules. The following principal accounting policies have been applied consistently throughout the period and preceding year 
in dealing with items which are considered material in relation to the Company’s financial statements. The financial statements are 
prepared on a going concern basis which assumes that the Company will continue in operational existence for the forseeable future. 

Under section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 the Company is exempt from the requirement to present its own profit and loss 
account. The Company made a loss for the year of £408,000 (2010: £562,000). 

Under Financial Reporting Standard 1 the Company is exempt from the requirement to prepare a cash flow statement on the grounds 
that it is included in the consolidated accounts which it has prepared. 

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption contained in FRS 8 and has therefore not disclosed transactions or balances 
with its subsidiaries. 

Foreign currencies 
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded using the rate of exchange ruling at the date of transaction. Monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated using the contracted rate or rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet 
date and the gains or losses on translation are included in the profit and loss account. 

Investments in subsidiaries 
Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any provisions for impairment. 

Details of the Company’s subsidiary undertakings are included in note 11 of the Group financial statements. 

Share based payment 
The fair value of options granted is recognized as an employee expense with a corresponding increase in equity. The fair value is 
measured at grant date and spread over the period during which the employees become unconditionally entitled to the options. The 
fair value of the options granted is measured using an option pricing model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which 
the options were granted. The amount recognized as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share options that vest 
except where forfeiture is only due to share prices not achieving the threshold for vesting. 

For cash-settled share-based payment transactions, the fair value of the amount payable to the employee is recognized as an expense 
with a corresponding increase in liabilities. The fair value is measured at grant date and spread over the period during which the 
employees become unconditionally entitled to payment. The fair value is measured based on an option pricing model taking in to 
account the terms and conditions upon which the instruments were granted. The liability is revalued at each balance sheet date and 
settlement date with any changes to fair value being recognized in the profit and loss account. 

As the Company grants options over its own shares to the employees of its subsidiaries, in accordance with UITF 44, it recognizes an 
increase in the cost of investment in its subsidiaries equivalent to the equity-settled share-based payment charge recognized in its 
subsidiary’s financial statements with the corresponding credit being recognized directly in equity. 

Transactions of the Company’s Employee Benefit Trust are included in the Company’s financial statements. In particular, the Trust’s 
purchases and sales of shares in the Company are debited and credited directly to equity. 

Taxation 
The charge for taxation is based on the profit or loss for the period and takes into account taxation deferred because of timing 
differences between the treatment of certain items for taxation and accounting purposes. 

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of all timing differences between the treatment of certain items for taxation and accounting 
purposes which have arisen but not reversed by the balance sheet date, except as otherwise required by FRS 19. 

Related Parties 
The Company has a related party relationship with its subsidiaries (see note 11) and with its Board of Directors (see the Remuneration 
Report pages 43 to 47. Details of Remuneration of Key Management Personnel are disclosed in note 24. 

27 Employees 
The Company does not employ any staff. 

Details of Directors’ remuneration are set out in the Remuneration Report. The Non-Executive Directors are remunerated by  
the Group. 
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28 Investments in Subsidiary Undertakings 
  2011 2010 
  £’000 £’000 

Cost and net book value 

At beginning of period 29,012 25,744 
Addition -  Purchase of subsidiary undertakings                                                                             28,515                                        –                
Addition – Share based payment to employees of subsidiary     5,951 3,268 

At end of period 63,478 29,012 

 

29 Debtors 
  2011 2010 
  £’000 £’000 

Prepayments and accrued income 36 18 
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings 70,616 61,403 

  70,652 61,421  

 

30 Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year 
  2011 2010 
  £’000 £’000 

Accruals and deferred income 163 218 

 

31 Operating leases 
The Company has no operating lease commitments (2010: £Nil). 

32 Capital Commitments 
At 30 April 2011, the Company had no capital commitments (2010: £Nil). 

33 Called Up Share Capital 
Details of the Company’s called up share capital are shown in note 18 of the Group financial statements. 

34 Reserves 
 Share  Other Capital Warrant Share based Retained 
 Premium Reserve Reserve payment reserve Earnings 
 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 £’000 

As at 1 May 2009 53,435 597 826 4,190 (2,038) 
 
Loss for the financial year     – –         –                       –             (562)  

Exercise of warrants _ 826 (826) –  – 

Issue of new shares 7,194 – –  –  – 

Acquisition of own shares for  – – –  – (667) 
Employee Benefit Trust  

Share based remuneration – – –   3,176 – 

As at 30 April 2010 60,629 1,423 _ 7,366 (3,267) 
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 Share  Other Capital Warrant Share based Retained 
 Premium Reserve Reserve payment reserve Earnings 
 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 £’000 

As at 1 May 2010 60,629 1,423 _ 7,366 (3,267) 
 
Loss for the financial year      – –         –                       –             (408) 

Exercise of warrants – –         –                           – – 

Issue of new shares 36,671 – – –  – 

Acquisition of own shares for  – – – – (81) 
Employee Benefit Trust 

Share based remuneration – – –  5,951 – 

As at 30 April 2011 97,300 1,423 – 13,317 (3,756) 

 

35 Reconciliation of Movements in Equity Shareholders’ Funds  

   2011 2010 

   £’000 £’000 

Equity shareholders’ funds at the start of the period  90,496 79,849 

Loss for the financial year (408) (562) 

Share based remuneration  5,951 3,176 

Issue of new shares 38,141 8,700 

Acquisition of own shares for (81) (667) 
Employee Benefit Trust 

Equity shareholders’ funds at the end of the period 134,099 90,496 
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Consolidated Five Year Record 
 

 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Income Statement 

Revenue 98,045 80,927 64,088 60,022 48,062 

Cost of sales (20,791) (25,004)  (21,755) (21,413) (20,913) 
Gross profit 77,254 55,923 42,333 38,609 27,149 

 

Research and development expenses (44,696) (35,370) (31,114) (29,110) (23,419) 
Sales and administration expenses (16,298) (10,562) (8,100) (7,997) (6,250) 
Gain/(write down) of investments – 148 (517) – – 

Total operating expenses  (60,994) (45,784) (39,731) (37,107) (29,669)  
 
Operating profit/(loss) 16,260 10,139 2,602 1,502 (2,520) 
 
Net financing income 100 52 120 379 219 

Profit/(loss) before taxation 16,360 10,191 2,722 1,881 (2,301) 
 

Taxation 2,918 4,016 5,404 383 (244) 

Profit/(loss) for the financial year/period 19,278 14,207 8,126 2,264 (2,545)  

 
Earnings per share  Basic 7.7p 6.0p 3.7p 1.0p (1.2p) 

 Diluted 7.4p 5.6p 3.5p 1.0p (1.2p) 
 
Statement of Financial Position 
Non-current assets 91,396 26,139 20,109 14,732 15,690 
 

Current assets 83,153 55,007 36,299 25,358 25,714 

Total Assets 174,549 81,146 56,408 40,090 41,404 
 
Current liabilities (17,686) (11,987) (10,304) (7,104) (8,783) 
 
Non-current liabilities (13,793) (373) (506) (743) (529) 
 
Total Liabilities (31,479) (12,360) (10,810) (7,847) (9,312) 

 
Net assets 143,070 68,786 45,598 32,243 32,092 
 
Called up share capital 25,815 24,345 22,839 21,926 21,748 
Capital reserves 101,078 64,595 59,629 57,015 60,548 
Retained earnings  16,177 (20,154) (36,870) (46,698) (50,204) 

Total equity 143,070 68,786 45,598 32,243 32,092 

 
These tables are for representative purposes only. Full details can be found in the Company’s Annual Reports. 
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